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For the year ended 31 August 2022

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group'} are the operations of Premium Schoois
worldwide. The main activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company.

Overview

Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited Group {'NAELHL Group’) are part of the world’s leading global operator of
premium international schools, At 31 August 2022 the Nord Anglia Education Group {‘NAE Group’) had over 70,800 full time
equivalent students (“FTEs”}, from kindergarten through the end of secendary school (*K-12"), at our family of 81 premium
schools in China, Europe, the Middle East, India, Southeast Asia and the Americas, As of 1 February 2023, NAE had 81 schools,
76,429 FTEs and capacity of approximately 118,431 seats, representing a utilisation rate of 64.5%.

At 31 August 2022 the NAELHL Group had over 48,200 full time equivalent students (“FTEs"), from kindergarten through the
end of secondary school (*K-12"), at our family of 56 premium schoolsin China, Eurcpe, the Middle East, India, Southeast Asia
and the Americas.

Recent Developments
On 31 March 2023 we acquired Saint George School in the Dominican Republic. Saint George School is a leading K-12
multilinguat school offering an international curriculum.

Results and dividends

Gross Profit for the financial year amounted to $553.2 million, an increase of $85.1 million. Gross profit margin increased from
44.7% in 2021 to 46.5% in 2022 reflecting the careful cost management in the Group. Throughout the year most schools
remained fully open, with students returning to classreoms and boardings. In some regions, the Group continued to face some
challenges with campus closures and operating under a virtual learning environment for part of the year. The experience over
the past couple of years ensured that teachers, students and parents were minimally impacted in 2022.

The Group continued its focus on cost management in the year to ensure working capital was managed to reduce the impact
of the ongoing campus closures on the business.

The loss for the financial year amounted to $56.2 million (2021: $24.5 million} which was primarily driven by the increase in
exceptional expenses,

The Company did not pay an interim dividend during the year (2021: nil}. The directors do not recommend the payment of a
final dividend {2021 nil).

Going concern
The Group has accumulated shareholders’ funds of $624.2 million as at 31 August 2022 (2021: $755.7 millicn),

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had net cash {cash and cash equivalents less overdraft) of $308.32 million (2021: $456.0 million)
which the directors believe is sufficient to suppart operations for the foreseeable future. Further information on the Group’s
borrowings is given in Note 23, In addition, Note 19 of the financial statements include the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging
activities and its exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk.

The Group continues to generate strong operating cash flows and benefits from favourable working capital movements
through the receipt of tuition fees in advance of the school year. Current liabilities exceed current assets by $387.6 million
(2021: $167.7 million), the main driver of this is the reduction in cash held as the Group completed three acquisitions during
the year which were funded from existing cash reserves. The Company has received confirmation that the NAE Group will
continue to provide support to enable it and the Group to meet its obligations as they fall due for a period of atleast 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial statements. This enables the Company and the Group to utilise the undrawn
banking facilities and liquidity of the NAE Group to support its ongoing operations and working capital requirements.

In assessing the going concern position of the Group, the directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period through to
the end of August 2024. These forecasts have been prepared to reflect a base case scenario, being the directers best estimate
of the likely financial and operating performance of the Group across the period. This assessment includes the impact of cash
balances which cannot easily be transferred to the Group's general cash pool due to the territories in which they are held.

The directors have also prepared a severe but plausible downside scenario that models a significant reduction in FTEs, and a
corresponding reduction in EBITDA. In the downside scenario, the Group will be able to operate within the facilities that are
committed throughout the going concern period,
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Strategic Report {continued)

Having made enquiries, the directors have reasonable expectations that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks
and continuc its operations for the foreseeable future, for at least 15 months from the date of the approval of the financial
statements. The Group’s cash forecasts and projections, taking intoe account severe but plausible changes in performance,
including a fall of 7.5% in FTEs compared to budget, show that the Group has sufficient financial resources. Accordingly, the
directors have not identified any material uncertainties to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Section 172 Statement
Sectien 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires the directors to act in a way that they consider, in good faith, would be most
likely to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its shareholders, having regard to (amongst other things) the
following:

s Thelikely long term consequences of decisions;

+« Theinterests of employees;

e The need to foster relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

*+  Theimpact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment; and

+  Thedesirability to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct.

Our stakeholders and the Group Board

The stakeholders of the Group are considered to include the pecple who work for us, the investors and shareholders who own
us, the lenders wha provide financing, the parents that send their children to our schools, the students themselves, our
suppliers and those that live in the societies we operate.

The board of the Company’s indirect shareholder, Bach Holdings Limited, together with its committees, shapes the policies
and strategies for the Group as a whole (the “NAE Group Board”). The Board of the Company (and each of its subsidiaries), will
consider, and if thought fit, approve key matters applicable to them in the context of the impact on the entity concerned. Two
of the directors of the Company are also members of the NAE Group Board.

Overview of the Group Board

The NAE Group Board recognises that building strong relationships with our stakeholders will help us to deliver the Group’s
strategy in line with its long-term values and operate the business in a sustainable way. The NAE Group Board therefore seeks
to engage effectively with its stakeholders, including regular communications with its investors to understand their views; by
building strong relationships with parents and regular communication with them and our other customers; and engaging
actively with employees, who are considerad central to the long-term success of the NAE Group, in order to consider their
interests and understand their views. The NAE Group Board includes two statutory directors of NAELHL, and wider key
management personnel of the NAELHL Group, who are also part of the NAEML Group. Strategic and operational decisions
made by the NAE Group beard are thus considered to be applicable to both.

The directors of the NAE Group Board as well as the directors of the Company are supported in the discharge of their duties
by:

e An induction programme and ongoing training to provide an understanding of our business and financial
performance;

*  Management processes which ensure that proposals presented to Beard and Committee meetings for decisions
include information relevant to determine the action that would most likely promote the success of the Company
and engagement with stakeholders where relevant to support appropriate decision making; and

s  Agenda planning for the Group Beard and its Committee meetings to provide sufficient time for the consideration
and discussion of key matters.

As part of their induction, the directors of the Group Board are briefed on their duties and they can access professional advice
on these, either from individuals within the NAE Group, or if they judge it necessary, from an independent provider. It is
important to recognise that in a large organisation such as ours, the directors of the NAE Group Board fulfil their duties partly
through a governance framework that delegates day-to-day decision making to employees of the NAE Group. In additicn,
there is an annual self-review by the directors which is shared with the NAE Group Board.

The NAE Group Board recognises that such delegation needs to be much more than simple financial authorities and our
governance structure covers: the values and behaviours expected of our employees; the standards they must adhere to; how
we engage with stakeholders; and how the NAE Group Board looks to ensure that we have a robust system of control and
assurance processes,

The NAE Group Board regularly receives reports from management on issues concerning parents, the environment,
employees, governments, and investors, which it takes into account in its discussions and in its decision-making process.
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Strategic Report {continued)

Examples of ways the Company Board has engaged with stakeholders and ratified the NAE Group Board decisions over the
year are:

Employees

The Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Team are actively involved in the engagement of employees through leadership
calls, weekly communication updates and Townhalls. In prior year the Group ran an employee engagement survey and the
results were discussed with employees and certain initiatives have been implemented as a result.

The Group has an Equality Diversity and inclusion Policy which is regularly updated. This policy details the commitment to
equality, diversity and inclusion highlighted in the Groups Code of Conduct. The policy has a commitment to values of Respect,
Dpenness, Courage, Ambition and Integrity. A key aim being to create opportunities and reduce barriers for everyone across
the organisation. In line with the Group’s policy, is to encourage the employment of disabled people where reasonably
practical. Full and fair compensation is given to employment applications from disabled persons having regards to their
aptitude and abilities. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort is made te ensure that their
employment with the Company continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group that the
training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identicat to that of other
employees. The Group encourages the invelvement of all employees in the Group’s performance using various methods. The
Group has a Global Equality Programme lead by Dr Lestie Williams who chairs the Global Equality Steering Group which is
comprised of teachers and leaders across the organisation focused on taking sustained action. They work through local
Equality Champions to deliver and support the mission as a global collective across 30 countries. The Group is committed to
a work environment free from discrimination and harassment and this commitment is set out in The Group’s Harassment
Policy. The Group encourages staff to share their views and thisis particularly encouraged in the HR policies highlighted above
and the Code of Conduct.

The Group updates its central team on matters of concern and financial and economic factors affecting Company performance
via regular, monthly townhall meetings. In schools, regular staff meetings are used to collect employee feedback and provide
updates on decisions that are fikely to affect their interests. As a global organisation, relationships with unions are managed
by aach school rather than centrally to have direct engagement with local HR teams. The Group regularly conducts employee
engagement surveys with the last one run in 2021. Globally, out of 13,585 staff sent the survey 84% responded, 64% felt
engaged/satisfied and 75% felt supported to do their rofe.

Investors

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer (two of the directors of the Group) provide a quarterly update of the
Group’s results to our investors. In respect of the half-year and full year results, a call is also held providing the investors the
opportunity to ask questions on the latest position of the NAE Group, of which the Group is a significant contributor. The NAE
Group has a dedicated resource who is available to answer queries throughout the year.

Parents

The relationship between the school and the parent community is strong with regular communication shared with the parents
as well as updates provided on the websites. Principals are empowered to own the relationships in the local community and
implement practices appropriate to the tocal community.

Suppliers
We have a strong procurement process in place for all expenditure with any expenditure over USD100,000 requiring a full
‘Request for Procurement’ process involving a minimum of three separate vendors.

Decision making
We set out below some examples of how decisions taken by the directors of the NAE Group Board in order to deliver the Group’s
strategy in line with its long-term values:

s The Group Board approved the acquisition of 3 schools during the year. All potential acquisitions are assessed in
terms of synergy with the Group, the growth potential, as well as cash fungibility.
«  The Group Board approved the building of two new greenfield schools, cne in Abu Dhabi and cnein the UK.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Regulatory requirements in a number of different jurisdictions around the world pose a potential risk to the Group however,
centinued internal monitaring and response to feedback from regulators mitigates the risk of non-compliance, and the Group
has not encountered any detrimental impacts to the business as a result.
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Management pro-actively manages the risks associated with liguidity in the Group. These are managed by ensuring effective
financial policies and procedures are in place, working capital is monitored closely and the performance of the Group is
measured against budgets and forecasts on a monthly basis and tracking of fee income is on a weekly basis.

Future developments

The Company has continued its principal activity throughout the year and the directors expect it to do se for the foresceable
future. As the world’s leading premium international schools crganisation, the directors plan to grow the business to be able
to provide a Nord Anglia education to even mare students, Qur strong academic foundations combine world-class teaching
and curricula with cutting-edge technology and facilities, to create learning experiences like no cther,

Carbon Reparting
We repart our carbon emissions following the Greenhouse Gas Pratocol. We report carbon dioxide emissions resulting from

energy use in our buildings and employees’ business travel.

In the years to 31 August, we collected data on energy use and business travel for our UK based entities within the Group. The
year-on-year increase is a result of the resumption of travel post pandemic.

2022 “*Restated

2021
Carbon dioxide emissions in tonnes
Total 1,057 805
From travel 409 19
From energy 648 786
Carbon dioxide emissions in tonnes per FTE
Total 1.7 1.6
From travel 0.7 0.1
From energy 1.0 1.5
Energy consumption in kWwh
Total 3,290,314 3,371,661

Our carbon dioxide reporting year runs from September to August.

*The prior year emissions have bean restated as a result of making use of an Improved methad of calculation in measuring the UK corporate carbon emissions

This report was approved and signed on behalf of the board on 16 May 2023 by:

e

A vanVilsteren
Director



Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 August 2022

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2022.

Directors
The directors of the Company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

AFitzmaurice

A v Vilsteren

| Dehal

M Orrow-Whiting

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

Throughout the year and up to the date of signing of the financial statements, a qualifying third party indemnity provision
was in place for the directors of the Company. This covers liability for the actions of directors and officers of the Company
and associated costs including legal costs.

Dividends
Dividends are discussed in the Strategic Report.

Other information
Financial risk management is discussed within Note 19 of the financial statements, Anindication of likely future developments,
other stakeholder engagement, going concern and post balance sheet events have been included in the Strategic Report.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are respensible for preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulation,

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial st:. tements for each financial year. Under that [aw the directors have
prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and the
Company financial statements in accordance with United K:ngdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclesure Framework”, and applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements untess they are satisfied that they give a true and
tair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing the
financial statements, the directors are required to:

»  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

s statewhetherapplicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed for the Group financial
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ makejudgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the Company wiil continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Cempany
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

»  sofar as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s and Company’s auditors
are unaware; and

»  they have taken all the steps that they cught to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's and Company's auditors are aware of that information.

This report was approved and signed on behalf of the board on 16 May 2023 by:

—
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Nord Anglia Education
London Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinien

In owr gpinion:

= Nord Anglia Education Londcn Holdings Limited's Group #inancial slatements and Company financial statements (the
“financial statements™} give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company's affairs as at
31 August 2022 and of the Group's loss and the Group's cash flows for the year then ended;

= the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards as appled in accordance with the provisions of the Compames Act 2006;

« ihe Company financial statements have been propery prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounling Standards, including FRS 10t “Reduced Cisclosure Framework”, and
applicable law); and

+ 1he financial statements hava been prapared in accordance with the raquirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Consalidaled Financial Statements (the “Anmual Report”), which
comprise: the Consclidated and Company Balance Sheset as at 31 August 2022; the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Staterment of Changes in Equity and the
Congolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a
description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducied our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs {UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial slatamants
section of our report. We believe that the audit svidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

Wse remainad independent of the Group in accordanca with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of tha
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have tulfilled our pther ethical
responsibitities in accerdance with these requirements.

Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope

¢ Overall Group matenality: US$14.3 million, based on 3.5% of Earnings Before Interas!, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation
and Exceptionai Expenses

« Local PwC component taams engaged to parfarm full scope audit proceduras over mneteen units and the PwC Group
audit team performed fu'l scope audil procedures over a further two reporting units.

+ Specifiad audil procadures were performed by component auditors over csrlain balances, including revenue and
property, plant and egquipment at two reporting units.

¢ Central audit procedures were performed by the Group audit team which included the audit ot the recoverability of
goodwill, the audit of the presentation and disclosure of exceplional items, the audi! of the consolidated current and
deferrad income taxes, the audit of Group share based payment schames, the audit of the UK defined benefil pension
schemas, the audit of the Group consolidation including eliminations and intercompany recoverability.

1G
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» Cvarall Company materiality: US$20.1 million (2021: US$18.4 million). based on 1% of total assets

« Full scope audit of the Company tinancial statements

Koy audit matters

* Recoverabilty of amounts owed by related parties (Group)

+ Recoverability of goodwil in relation to India (Group)

= Recoverability of invastments and amounts owed by related parties {Company)

Materiality

» Overall Group maignality: US$14.3 million {2021: US$12.0 million) based on 3.5% of Eamings Before Interest, Tax,

Depreciation, Amortisation and Exceptional Expenses.

» QOverall Company materiality: US$20.1 million (2021: US$18.4 million} based on 1% of total assets.
* Performance matenality: US$10.7 million (2021: US$9.0 million) {Group} and US$15.1 million (2021: USH13.8 million)

{Company).

The scope of our audit

As parl of designing our audit, we delermined matenality and assessed the risks of malerial misstaternent in the financsal

slatements.

Key audit matters

Key audit malters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, waere of mosi signficance tn the audit of
the financial staternents of the current period and include the most signiticant assessed risks of material misslatement
(whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the effonts of the engagement team. These mattars, and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressead tn the context of our audit of the tinancial
statemenis as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters

This is not a complete list of ali risks identified by our audit.

Recoverability of amounts owed by related parties (Group) is a naw key audit matier this year. Otherwise, the key audit

matters below are consisient with las year.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of amounis owed by reiated parties
{Group}

The Group is owed significant amourts from related
partias, including from entities whose ability to repay
thess amounts is dependent on the settlement of loans
and trading balance from businesses formally controfled
by the NAE Group (*the legacy businesses”). Thase
balancas musi be assessed for recoveraty on an
annual basis. This assessment includes consideration of
a number of factors regarding the related parties’ abilily to
repay the balance inctuding current liquidity position and
forecasts of the fulure cash flow generation of the entity.
For amounts owed from entities whare the ultimate ability
ta repay the balance is dapendent an the future
performance and cash generation of the legacy
businesses, managament have developed a complax
model 1o forecast the expected future parformance of the
schools nun by the legacy businesses, Based on this
model, which includes a numbar of assumptions including
the growth in fulure student numbers, management have
determinad that anly sufficient cash could be generated to
repay $37.0 million and have therefore recorded an
impairment of $155.6 million against the related party
receivables of which $46.5 milhon relales to the prior
financial year. Rafer to the Intercompany recaivables
accounting policias, critical accounting estimale in note 1,
note 20 Debtors and notes 29 Related party transaclions
in the Group Financial Staterments.

We have assessed management's assessment of the
recoverabitity of the refated party receivables balances held
by the Group. We first verified that the assessment covered
the complele list of outstanding balances that reconciled 1o
the financial statements. From this listing we targated all
debtors balances above performance materiality and
performed non-stalistical tesling on the remaining balances
to ensure we had appropriate covarage in our testing,

Whare the recoverabilily is supported by the tiquid
rasources of the debtor, we have verified the existence of
the cash or debtor balance to the financial statements of
the counterparty. Where the recovery was dependent on a
series of payments of intercompany amcunts through the
ownership chain, wa sampled a range of enlities within the
repayment step plan !o ensure that all balances were baing
sourced from the cormect entities and that no balances were
ulilisad incorrectly. 1t amounts could not be recoverad by
tha liquid resources of the counterparty, then the current
trading perfformance and future cash flows forecasts were
assessed. As part of assessing these forecasts, we
performed a lookback test on of EBITOA budget vs actual
performance to determine the reliability of forecasts, which
showed thal management are reasonably accurate with
long 1esm forecasting.

11
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In relation to related party balances with entities that also
have receivables due from the legacy businesses we have
performed the following procedures:

- Managemaent hava provided a scheduls of loan batances
between NAE entities and the legacy businesses. This
schedule forms the basis of the impaiment assessment
and as such we have parformed complateness and
accuracy tasts lo ensure the schedule agreas 1o underlying
records.

- We obtained management’s mogdel of the luture forecast
performance of the legacy businesses and assessed
management’s assumptions used in the model. Wa also
tested the mathematical accuracy of the model and
reasonableness of management's sensitivily analysis and
deem them appropriate.

- In order to further test the accuracy of management's
madel, we built our own indapendant model, taking into
accounl all of the assumptions used by management. In
building our own model we noted some discrepancies in
the managemenl model in respect to the order of receipt of
trading balances versus foan repayments which resulted in
ravisions to managemant s model.

- We then subjected our own model to a range of sensitivity
anatysis that fooked at diflerent levels of changes in the
base level of cash flows to assess the reasonablenass of
managemesnt's point estirnate.

-We have tested managemaent's analysis of the element of
the impairment which relates to the prior financial year and
have concluded that the prior year adjustmant recorded is
appropriate.

Recoverability of goodwill in relation to Intia (Group)

The Group has goodwill of $1,269.4 million, with $95.8
million of this balance refating the India cash generating
unil. Under 1AS 36 lmpairment of Assats' goodwill and
indefinite life intangible assets must be testad for
impairmenl at least annually. We focused on this atea as
management judgement is required to establish the
recoverable amount using value in use ("VIU") modasls
and fair value less casts to sell ("FVLCTS") assessments.
This includes judgement in the selection of assumptions
used to estimate forecast future cash flows such as
revenue growth rates (driven by both studant numbers
andg price increases) angd profil margins, and in the
salection of appropriate discount and long-term growth
rates used in the VIU models. it also requires judgement
in relation 10 the eamings mulliple applied to calculate
FVLCTS. Thesa items are subjeclive and susceptible to
management bias and exsecution risk and could tead to
error bolh in determining whether an impairment charge
i$ required, and the amount of any impairment charge
recorded. The forecasts used by management continue 10
show future growth in student numbaers which could be
impactad by the ongoing economic conditicns , which
{uriher increases the level of judgement inherént in the
forecasts which underpin the impairment assessment.
Refer to the accounting policies for business
combinations and goodwill, impairment of non-financial
assets and the critical accounting estimates and key
Mdgments seclion in nete 1 and nate 16 intangible assats
within the consolidated financial statements.

At the planning stage of the audil, we assessed the design
and implementation of contrals over the impairment review
process. In respec! of the India CGU we obtained
managamant’s impaimment assassment, comprised of a
VIU model and a FVLCTS assessment. For the India CGU
the recoverable amount 15 based on a FVLCTS madel, as
this provided the higher racoverable amount, We
performed the following proceduras: - We tested the
intagrity and arithmetic accuracy of both modeis to ensura
that thay had baen prepared in accordance with the
guidance provided in tAS 36; - We parformed analysis to
identify those assumptions to which the impairmeant lests
wero sensitive and tocussed our efforts on the relevant
assumptions for @ach; - We usad intemal valuation expans
1o determine whether managemant's discount rates were
within an acceptable range and long-term growth rates
waere consistent with external sourcas of evidencs; - We
challenged the basis of the shor-term forecasts used in the
madels. This included but was not limited to: agreeing
forecasts 1o Board approved plans; reviewing actual
pearformance of the India CGU in FY22 and FY23 to date;
and reviewing management's historical forecasting
acguracy; and - We used our valuation expans to
independently determine an allernative earnings multiple
for the CGU and compared this with managemant's
valuation, Wa did not note any matenal difference in the
valuations calculated for the India CGU under each of the
methodologies. We performed sensitivity analyses around
the kay assumptions for each of the valuation bases la
ascertain the extent of change in those assumptions thal,
gither individually or collectively, would result in material
impairment charges being recognised. Disclosures
included within notes 1 and 16 of the consclidated financial
Statements were assessed against tha requirements of |1AS
36 and IAS 1 and deemed appropriate.

Hecoverability of mvestments and amoun!s one:! by
rolated partigs {Company;}

The Company has a significant investment balance in ils
principal subsidiary as well as being owed significant

amounts from related parties. These balances musi be

The racoverability of the investmant was assessed by
delermining if there were any Iriggers that would require a
full impairment test to be undenaken by the directors. We

12
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assessed for recoverability on an annual basis. This assessed this through a review of net assels of the
assessment includes consideration of a number of factors | subsidiary entity against the investment carrying value,
regarding the related partias abillty 10 repay the bafance consideration of axternal market and economic factors and

including current liquidity position of the entity and ravigw of the discounted cash flow models of the

forecasts of the future cash flow generation of the underying trading businesses prepared for the purpose of
countarparty. Refer lo the Investments and Intercompany | the goodwill impairment tast required tor the Consolidated
receivables accounting policies and critical eslimate in Financial Statements. Based on these procedures we

note 3, note 5 Investments and note 6 Deblors within the | concluded thal there were no triggers that would indicate
Coempany Financial Statements. the diractors were required to perform a full impairment 1est

of the investment carrying value. For amounts owed by
rolated parties, management prepared a recoverability
assessment in line with IFRS 9 for the Company's
receivable balances, The recoverability of each receivable
balance was assessed by first considering the available
liquid resources, such as the relevant counterparty's yoar
and cash position and receivables, and where appropriate,
its subsidiary underakings as well. If amounts could not be
recaverad by the liquid resources of the counterparly, then
the current trading performance and future cash flows
forecasts were assessed. As a rasult of these procedures,
wa identified no indication of material impairment to the
receivable balances.

How we tailored the audit scope

Wa tailored the scope of our audil 10 ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
slatements as a whole, taking intc account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting procasses and
controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The NAELHL Group (the Group') forms a subgroup within the NAE Group which operales a portolic of 81 premium
intemational schools around the word, The Group operates 56 premium international schools and is split globally into four
differant regicns which are as jollows: Europe, The Americas, China Intemational and South East Asia together with the Middle
East and India (SEAMEI). Thare are 145 components within the consolidation, which include schools, holding companies and
other consolidation units

We have identified one financially significant component ta the Group which the Group audit team has performed full scope
audit procedures over. We nole that there are no other financially signitican! components, with the largest component
contributing 7.1% to revenue and the average component beng 1.6%. We therefora delarmined the mosi effective approach
was o engage PwC local component teams lo perform full scope procedures over nineteen reporting units, with the Group
audit team performing full scope audit work over a further ane reporting units {in addition 10 the full scope audit of the financially
significant component). In addition, specified audit procedures were performed by a local component team over ceriain
batances, including revenue and property, plant and equipment, at two raporting umits in India. This approach ensures that
appropriate audit coverage has bsen obtained over all financial statement line items Furthermore, we have performed
analytical procedures (desklop reviews at year end) over all other components which are not subject to delailed audit
procadures.

Whare work was performed by component auditors, we delermined the appropriale level of supervision and review of the audit
work to ensure we could conclude that sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained for the Group financial
statements as a whole. We issued written instructions 1o ali component auditors and had regular communications with them
throughout the audil cycie. This included a planning and clearance meeting with each component leam, performing two site
visits, atlending several local clearance meetings with management, as well as performing file reviews on nine reporting units.

Based on the detailed audit work performed across 1he Group, we have gained coverage of 63.4% of total earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceplional expenses and 66.3% of total revenue.

We lailored the scops of the Company audit to ensure that we performed sufficiant work to be able to express an opanion on
the financial statements as a whole, takng into account the structure of the Company, the accounting processas and contrals.
and the industry in which it operates.

Materiality

The scope of cur audit was influenced by our application of matenalily. We set certain quantitative threshclds for materiality
These, together wilh qualitative considerations, helped us lo determina the scope of our audit and tha nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures on the individual financiat statement line ems and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
musstatements, both individuatly and in aggregate on the financial stataments as a whole.

13
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Based on our professional Judgement we determined matanality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements - Group Financial statements - Company
Ovgrall US$14 3 million {(2021: US$12.0 US3$20.1 million (2021: US$18.4 million).
materahty million)
How we 3.5% of Earnings Before Interest, 1% of totai assets
detarmimnead Tax, Dapraciation, Amorisatcn and
Exceptional Expenses
Ragonale for Wae consider thes 1o be the pnmary The Carmpany is an intermediale investmert holding
benchmark benchmark used by key company within the wider Nord Anglia Education group
apphed stakeholders to evaluate the position | struclure. We cansidar this to be the primary benchmark used
and perdormance of the Group by key stakehelders to evaluate the position and performance

of the Company.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we affocated a matenality that (s less than our overall Group mateniality.
The range of materiality allocated across components was US$1.0 million to US$4.6 million. Gertain components were audited
10 a local statutory audil malteriality that was also less than our overall Group matanality.

We use performance maleralily o reduce to an approprately low level the probability that the aggregats of uncorrected and
undetected misstaternents exceeds averall matenality Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope
of oyr audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosuras, for exampte
in determining sample sizes. Our parformance matenality was 75% (2021: 75%) of overall materality, amounting to US$10.7
million (2021: US3$9.0 milion) for the Group financial statements and US$15.1 million (2021: U5$13.8 milhon} for the Company
financial statements.

In determining the perermance malenality, wa considerad a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range
way appropriate

We agreed wilh those charged with govemance that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
US%0.5 milion (Group audit) (2021 US$0.5 milkon) and US$0.5 million (Company audit} {2021: US$0.5 million) as well as
misstatements below thase amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Canclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's and the Company's ability 1o continue to adopt the going concom
basis of accounting included:

* e obtained and critically assessed management's paper that supports the Board's assessment and conclusions with
respect to the disclosures provided around going concem;

= Wae discussed with management the assumptions applied in the gaing concern review so we could understand and
challenge the rationale for those assumptions using our knowledge of the business and the wider economic
environmaent,

=  We reviewed the most recent management accounts for FY23 and campared to management's original budgel and
revised lorecasts, and considered the impact of these actual results on the fuure forecast period;

+  We reviewed management's severa bul plausible downside sensilivily scenarios. We assessed the availabikity of liquid
rasources under the base case and downside scenario modeiled by management, and the associated covenant tests
applied;

* We assessed the appropriatenass and completeness of the financial statement disclosures relating to going concern.

Based on tha work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncentainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant dout on the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concemn
for a period of al least tweive months fram when the financial statements are authorised for Issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can ba predicled, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's
and the Company's ability 10 continue ag a going concern.
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Cur responsibilites and the responsibilities of the directors with raspect to going concern are described in the relevant seciions
of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other mformation compnses ak of the information inthe Annual Report other than the financial stalemenis and our auditors’
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other informat en. Qur opinion on tha financial statements does not caver
the other information and, accordingiy, we do nol express an audit opinion or, except 1o the extent olherwise explicitly stated
i this raport, any form of assurance thereon.

in conneclion with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whelher w other information is matsrially inconsistent with the financial statements or aur knowledge obtained in
the audil, or otherwisa appears o be matenally misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsislency or matenal
misstalement, we are required 10 perlom procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a materal m:sstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a matenal misstatement of this other information, we ara required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these rasponsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whather the discloswres required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undenaken in the course of the audit, ine Companies Acl 2006 requires us also 1o report certain opinions
and mattars as described below,

Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and
Directors' Report for the year ended 31 August 2022 is consistent with the financial stalements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicabte iegal requirements.

In ight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment oblained in the course of the
audit, we did not idenlify any malerial misstatemenis in the Strategic report and Drreclors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained mors fully in the Statemant of diractors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements. the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial stalements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being salisfied
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are aiso responsible for such intemal control as they delermine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial staternents that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In prepanng the financial slatements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to
continue as a gong concem, disclosing, as applicabla, mattars related to going concem and using the going concem basis of
accounting unless the directors erther intend to liquidate tha Group or the Company or 1o cease aperations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial statamenis as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinicn. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordances with ISAs {UK) will always detect a
malerial misstatemant when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if, individually
or in the aggregals, they could reasorably be expected lo influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procaduraes in line with
our responsibilties, outlined above, 1o detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, ncluding fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting iregularities, including fraud, 1s detailed balow

Based en our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that the principal risks o non-compliance with laws and

reguiations related 1o employment law, regulations for ownersh-p of schools and delivering educational services and tax
legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a materal effect on the financial stalements
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Wae also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financiai statements such as Campanies Act

2006. Wa avaluated management's incentives and cpportunities for traudulent manipuiation of the financial statemenis

{including the risk of override ot controls), and determined thal the principal risks were related to posting of inappropriate

journal entries, and management bias in determining accounting estimates. The Group engagement team shared this risk

assessment with the component audilors so that they could include appropriaie audit proceduras in response to such risks in
their work, Audil procedures performed by the Group engagement tearn and/r companent audilors included:

« inguiries of management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulation and fraud;

* Review of minutes of mestings of those charged with govermnance and intemal audil reports;

« Challenging assumptions made by management in their significant accounting eslimales and judgements, in particular in
relation to the carrying value of loan receivable balances, carrying value of goodwill, measurement of lease (fabilities,
actuarial assumptions, measurement of assets and liabilities acquired as pan of a business combination and uncerain
tax positions; and

e \dentifying and tesling journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account eombinations which
could manipulate the financial performance of the business.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We ars less likely 1o become aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a matenal misstaterment due to fraud is higher than the risk of nct delecting one
resulling from seror, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for exampie, forgery or intentional misreprasentations,
or thraugh coflusion.

QOur audit testing might includa testing compiete populalions of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, i typically invelves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling 10 enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A funher description of our responsibilitias for the audnt of the financial statemenis is located on the FRC's website at:
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This gescription forms part of our audilors’ reporl.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinicns, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companiss Act 2006 and for no cther purpose. We do naot, in giving thess opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person 10 whom lhis repon is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where exprassly agreed by our prior consent in writing.



™ ad Angdia Bdocatos Loodon Holdmges Lisigd

¢

COomprobnlted Froancial Stuenemis
U Auzust 2002

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you i, in our opinion:

* wae have not obtainad all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

s adeguale accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or retums adequate for our audit have not been
raceived from branches not visited by us, or

« certain disclosures of direciors’ remunaration specified by law are not made; or

+ the Cempany financial statements are not in agreemsnt with the accounting records and retums.

Wae have no exceptions to raport ansing from this responsibility.

i

Nicholas St Tt {Senior Statlutory Auditor)

nd on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLFP
Chanered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Easl Midlands
16 May 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 August

Restated*
Note(s) 2022 2021
$m sm
Net revenue 3 1,188.7 1,047.9
Cost of sales {635.5) (579.8)
Gross profit 553.2 468.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses {274.0) {242.1)
Depreciation 4 (8.2) (10.8)
Amortisation 4 16 (24.1)} (20.7)
impairment {charge}/reversal 4, 16,22 {2.3) 0.4
Other losses? 5 {14.7) {3.9)
Exceptional expenses” & {113.4} {56.2)
Total expenses (436.7) (333.3}
Operating profit 116.5 134.8
Finance income 10 18.6 11.6
Finance expense - loans and borrowings 10 {150.1) (143.8)
Net finance expense (131.5) {132.2)
Loss before tax (15.0) 2.6
Income tax expense 11 (41.2) {27.1)
Loss for the year (56.2} {24.5)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (58.6) (24.8)
Non-controlling interest 2.4 0.3

The notes on pages 25 to 97 and appendix on pages 108 to 114 form an integral part of these financial statements,

1 Other {losses)/gains is restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruanc. Therefore, the restated 2021 balances
do not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.

* The comparative information has been restated. Please see further informaticn in note 1.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 August

Notefs/ 2022 2021
Sm Sm
Loss for the year {56.2) (24.5)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
lterns that will not be reclassified to Income Statement in subsequent

periods:

Actuarial gains g 2.1 22.7
Tax credit/{charge)} nn defined benefit pension plans 12 1.2 (3.6)
Tax credit on FX movements iz 2.0 -
i’tems that may be reclassified subsequently to income Statement

Foreign exchange translation gains:

- Net assets of foreign operations (80.9) 305
Total other comprehensive (expense)f income for the year, net of (75.6) 49.6
income tax
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year {121.8) 25.1
Attributable to:

Owners of the parent (124.2) 24.7
Non-centrelling interest 2.4 0.4
Total comprehensive {(expense}fincome for the year (131.8) 25.1

The notes on pages 25 to 7 and appendix on pages 108 tc 114 form an integral part of these financial statements.

* The comparative information has been restated. Please sce furtherinformation in note 1.

19



Consolidated Balance Sheet

as at 31 August
Restated”
31 August 31 August 1 September
Note(fs} 2022 2021 2020
m Sm sm
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment’ 13 412.2 368.4 334.7
Right of use assets 14 1,149.9 1,210.9 1,112.3
Intangible assets’ 16 1,661.1 1,476.7 1,274.3
Investments 17 3.0 3.0 3.0
Trade and other receivables 20 80.5 102.0 126.1

Pension asset g 5.5 121 -
Deferred tax assets 12 15.0 315 23.2
3,327.2 3,204.6 2.873.6

Current assets

Current tax assets 0.6 4.1 13.4
Inventories 3.0 3.4 3.2
Trade and other receivables 20 655.8 5717 549.5
Cash and cash equivalents Z1 308.3 456.0 613.2
967.7 1,035.2 1,179.3
Assets held for sale 22 - 53 7.8
967.7 1,040.5 1,187.1
Total assets 4,294.9 4,245.1 4,060.7

The notes on pages 25 to 97 and appendix on pages 108 to 114 form an integral part of these financial statements.
‘Property, plant and equipment and intangible asscts are restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano.

Therefore, the restated 2021 balances do not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.

* The comparative information has been restated. Please see further infermation in note 1.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet {continued)
as at 31 August

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Lease liahilities
Trade and other payables?®
Deferred revenue
Deferred gain
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions for other liabilities and charges
Deferred tax tiabilities?

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables®
Derivative financial instruments
Interest-bearing loans, borrowings, and overdrafts
lease liahilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred gain
Provisions for other liabilities and charges
Current tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Currency translation reserve
Other reserves

Retained earnings?

Capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the
Company
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Note(s)

23
19
24
25

26
12

25
19
23
24

26

28

28

SNend hncdio b oues bon b onden Dlotding D eneted

IR I IO I P TP T I N TARTETNTEN
IR RS TRIRT I B A
Restated™

31 August 31 August 1 September
2022 2021 2020
Sm Sm $m
409.4 407.1 405.1

- 19.1 214
1,119,3 1,132.8 1,019.3
631.4 55715 550.7
43.1 40.7 44.5
i1.1 12.0 12.3
8.6 15.2 34,1
12.4 7.0 2.3
81.7 912 714
2,317.0 2,282.6 2,161.1
451.7 363.1 333.0

- 0.2 0.2
25.5 0.1 53.6
128.9 140.0 1256
714.4 §72.3 616.3
0.2 0.2 0.2

0.2 0.2 3.4
34.4 32.1 39.4
1,355.3 1,208.2 1,171.7
3,672.3 3,490.8 3,332.8
515.9 515.9 515.9
{229.3) (148.4) (178.8)

(4.5) {4.5) -

342.1 392.7 390.1
624,2 755.7 727.2
(1.6 (1.4} 0.7
622.6 754.3 7271.9
4,294.9 4,245.1 4,060.7

These financial statements set out on pages 18 to 97 and appendix on pages 108 to 114 were approved by the Board of

Company number: 06590752

The notes on pages 25 to 97 and appendix on pages 108 to 114 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Trade and other payables, deferred tax liabilities and shareholder's deficit are restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of
Colegio Peruano. Therefore, the restated 2021 balances do not correspond to the prior period financial staterments. Refer to note 18 for details.

* The comparative information has been restated, Please see further information in note £,
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 August

Restated™
Noters/ 2022 2021
$m sm
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year before taxation {15.0) 2.6
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 4 13 14, 16 162.8 157.4
Impairment/{reversal of impairment) of intangible assets and assets held for sale 4, 16,22 2.3 0.4)
impairment of related party receivables 109.2 46.5
Fair value movements in derivatives and receivables impairment expense {5.0) (0.4)
Elimination of FX on intercompany balances and loans (9.9) -
Difference between pension contribution paid and reported in the Consolidated 1.2 (8.2}
Income Statement
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {0.5) [0.8)
Net finance expense 10 131.5 132.2
Share-based payment expenses 2 2.7 8.3
379.3 337.2
Increase in trade and other receivables, inventories and deferred lease expense {81.8) (11.2)
Increase/{decrease] in trade and other payables, deferred revenue, deferred gain 80.1 (18.0)
and provisions
Cash generated from operations 377.6 308.0
Interest paid {113.5) {130.0}
Tax paid {29.4) (41.3)
Net cash generated from operating activities 234.7 136.7
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.2
Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale 5.1 2.8
Furchase of intangible assets (17.1) {16.8)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 18 {261.7) (72.1)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment {53.0) (29.3)
Loans advanced to related parties 258 {9.0) {109.7)
Loan repayments received from related parties 28 33.9 4.2
Interest received 2.4 0.2
Net cash used in investing activities {299.1) {130.5)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares - -
Net proceeds from borrowings 12.3 4.8
Repayment of borrowings - (128.4)
Loan advances from related parties 26.3 69.6
Loan repayments to related parties {46.4) (6.5)
Principal elements of lease payments {65.2) (61.8)
Transactions with non-contrelling interest {2.8} (2.8}
Net cash used in financing activities {75.8} {125.1}
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (140.2} (118.9;
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 456.0 571.5
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (7.5) 3.4
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (including overdrafts) 308.3 456.0
Bank overdrafts 23 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (excluding overdraftsj 2 308.3 456.0

‘The comparative informatien has been restated. Please see further information innote 1.
The notes on pages 25 to 97 and appendix on pages 108 to 114 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022

1 Accounting policies

Generalinformation

Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated on 13 May 2008 and is domiciled in
England and Wales as a private company limited by shares. The address of its registered office is 4™ floor, Nova South, 160
Victoria Street, London, SWLE 5LB.

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are the operation of Premium Schools
worldwide. The main activity of the Company is that of an investment holding and financing company.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in US dollar, generally rounded to the nearest 100,600, They are prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments {including derivatives instruments) and pension assets that have been
measured at fair value.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consclidated financial statements are
presented in US dollar, which is the Group’s functional and presentational currency.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial
statements. The Group has adopted amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2 as issued in August 2020. In accordance with the transition provisions, the amendments have been adopted
retrospectively to financial instruments. Comparative amounts have not been restated, and there was no impact on the
current period opening reserves amounts on adoption. The Group is exposed to USD LIBCR on term loans with a carrying value
of $409.4m. This interest rate benchmark is due to be withdrawn in June 2023 and as such the Group is in negotiations with
existing lenders to manage this transition,

Going concern
The Group has accumulated shareholders’ funds of $624.2 million as at 31 August 2022 (2021: $755.7 million).

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had net cash (cash and cash equivalents less overdraft) of $308.3 million {2021: $456.0 millien)
which the directors believe is sufficient to support operations for the foreseeable future. Further information on the Group’s
barrowings is given in Note 23. In addition, Note 19 of the financial statements include the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital, its financial risk management objectives, details of its financial instruments and hedging
activities and its exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk.

The Group continues to generate strong operating cash flows and benefits from favourable working capital movements
threugh the receipt of tuition fees in advance of the school year. Current liabilities exceed current assets by $387.6 million
(2021: $167.7 million), the main driver of this is the reduction in cash held as the Group completed three acquisitions during
the year which were funded from existing cash reserves. The Company has received confirmation that the NAE Group will
continue to provide support to enable it and the Group to meet its abligations as they fall due for a period of at least 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial statements. This enables the Company and the Group to utilise the undrawn
banking facilities and liquidity of the NAE Group to support its ongoing operations and working capital requirements.

In assessing the going concern position of the Group, the directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period through to
the end of August 2024, These forecasts have been prepared to reflect a base case scenario, being the directors best estimate
of the likely financial and operating performance of the Group across the period, This assessment includes the impact of cash
balances which cannot easily be transferred to the Group's general cash poci due to the territories in which they are held.

The directors have also prepared a severe but plausible downside scenaric that models a significant reduction in FTEs, and a
corresponding reduction in EBITDA. In the downside scenaric, the Group will be able to operate within the facilities that are
committed throughout the going concern peried.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued}

Having made enquiries, the directors have reasonable expectations that the Group is well placed to manage its business risks
and continue its operations for the foreseeable future, for at least 15 months from the date of the approval of the financial
statements. The Group’s cash forecasts and projections, taking into account severe but plausible changes in performance,
including a fall of 7.5% in FTEs compared to budget, show that the Group has sufficient financial resources. Accordingly, the
directors have not identified any material uncertainties to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and continue to
adaopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Future accounting developments

The Group considers that there are no relevant standards or relevant interpretations mandatery for the current accounting
period that have not been applied.

Future standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective or early adopted, are:

. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to 1AS 1; effective 1 January 2023;

s Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use - Amendments to 1AS 16; effective 1 January 2022;

. Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS 3; effective 1 January 2022;

. Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendments to 1AS 37; effective 1 January 2022;

e Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020; effective 1 January 2022;

. Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to 1AS 8; effective 1 January 2023;

e Disclosure of material accounting policies - Amendments to 1AS 1; effective January 2023; and

»  Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction - Amendments to 1AS12; effective 1
January 2023.

. IFRS 17 Insurance Contacts; effective 1 January 2023

The above future standards and interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consoclidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of the Group. In situations where the Group has a
less than 100% interest, the Greup considers further factors such as voting rights and exposure to variable returns and the
linkage between power and returns in order to determine whether it controls the subsidiary.

Non-controlliing interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the Consclidated Income Statement,
Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities {including structured entities) over which the Group has centrol. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns fromitsinvolvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated fully from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of
accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated,
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue when [or as) a performance obligation is satisfied. This is considered to be when control of the
goods or services underlying the performance obligation is transferred to the students, For the Group, the primary services

provided to the students are curriculum delivery, extra-curricular activities, enrolment and ancitlary services, as the Group is
primarily engaged in the provision of premium schooling, from kindergarten through to secondary school (K-12).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continned)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

¢  thestudent simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group as the Group performs;
e the Group creates and enhances an asset that the student controls as the Group perferms; or

+ the Group creates an asset with no alternative use to the Group and they have an enforceable right te payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the student obtains control of the distinct good er service,

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time in the following major
service lines:

« The provision af tuition, examinations, resourcing, technical support, student activities and Virtual Education
Services {VES), which are collectively deemed to be a single distinct service and performance obligation. These are
collectively referred to as “curriculum fees” and are recognised over time. Curriculum fees are presented net of
curriculum fee discounts, and the net amount represents the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled. Curriculum fees are also presented net of COVID-19 Support Costs, which are discounts/credit notes
provided to existing students that can be utilised in the following academic year.

*  The provision of boarding, private tuition, transport, catering, after-school activities, etc, which are a series of
distinct performance obligations linked to the delivery of the curriculum. These are referred to as “extra-curricular
fees” and are recognised over time. Uniform, bock and merchandise sales, ad-hoc private tuition, ad-hoc extra-
curricular activities, etc, are recognised at a peint in time.

= Registration, capital enrolment, enrolment, capital assessment etc, collectively referred to as “enrolment fees” are
a series of distinct performance obligations, which are satisfied over time.

«  Management and royalty charges from other entities across the Nord Anglia Education Management Limited Group.
Revenue from management charges are recognised at a point in time, as and when the charges are incurred, and
royalty charges are recognised over time, reflecting other Group entities’ right to access the NAE brand throughout
the financial year.

e Otherrevenue, comprising of ancillary services indirectly related to the provision of curriculum delivery.

Remaining unsatisfied performance obligations relate to future services paid in advance and material rights awarded, for
example arising on schaolarships and sibling discounts.

Schoof fee income

Curriculum, extra-curricular and enrolment fees are typically billed in advance, either annually where it relates to enrolment
or termly in the case of tuition and related fees. In some instances, fees are also billed monthiy in advance. In most cases,
invoices are payable within 30 days.

The transaction price of curriculum, extra-cusricular and enrolment fees are based on contract price less any applicable
discounts. Discounts are typically agreed upfront and generally include annual discounts, staff discounts, referral discounts,
principal discounts and financial aid.

A number of schools offer multiple payment plans for students, with associated financing charges. The arrangements
themselves do not indicate a significant financing compoenent as the time period between receipt of consideration and
delivery of those services is less than one year, applying the practical expedient available under IFRS 15.

Material rights are valued based on the expected level of discount awarded, adjusted for the time value of money. Thisincludes
an assessment of the likely uptake per year based on student attrition rates. Revenue is allocated between school fee income
and material rights based on the relative standalone selling prices at that point, with the material right deferred until it is
utilised.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {(continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Deferred revenue from material rights becomes revenue on the utilisation of that right throughout the student's education. It
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the average student tenure {which varies by region) and included as part of the
contract liability.

Material rights arising from discounts offered on the following academic year’s fees to existing students, have their associated
deferred revenue released over the period that the discount relates to (in most cases, the first term of the following academic
year).

Certain anciltary services are not directly tinked to the underlying curriculum and as such are recognised as revenue when the
service is delivered to the student as this is viewed to be the point at which control passes. These are paid in advance.

At a majority of the Group’s schools, standard terms and conditions require a full term’s notice of withdrawal for a refund of
prepaid school fee income.

Deposits

Refundable deposits relate to fees that may result in a return of funds/monies to a customer. These are reported as a financial
liability until they are either returned to the customer or the term/condition under which it can be refunded has expired or is
no longer valid. At this point, the fee is either earned and the revenue is recognised, or the fees have been refunded and the
liability is relieved.

Non-refundable deposits relate to fees that have no terms or conditions attached which would resultin any monies ever being
returned to the custormner. The revenue is earned and recognised to the extent that the services have been fulfilled, with any
excess deferred and recognised as revenue over the Group’s average student tenure.

Refunds

Where the student has a right to a return of prepaid curriculum fees within a given period, the schoolis obliged to refund the
purchase price. A refund liability for the expected refunds to students is recognised as an adjustment to revenue within
deferred revenue. This is calculated using the historical level of refunds provided to students.

Expenses

Costofsales

Cost of sales consist principally of salary and benefits for school principals, teaching staff and lecturers employed in our
Premium Schools and Learning Services businesses, plus the costs of teaching materials as well as expenses for the provision
of school lunches, bus services and athletics programmes. Depreciation charges arising from tangible assets owned by
Premium Scheols are also included in the Cost of sales. For the Learning Servites businesses the costs are recognised as
incurred. For the Premium Schools business, salary and benefits for school principals and teaching staff are recognised as
incurred, being the 10 months, over which teaching services are provided and as such they follow the same recognition period
as the relevant fee income.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Seliing, general and administrative expenses consist of several cost catepories including salary and benefits for the senior
management team and other personnel engaged in finance, human resources, education policy and quality, legal compliance,
information systems and infrastructure and other functions at our corporate headquarters. In addition, this category of
expense encompasses salary and benefits for regional personnel supporting operations in China, Europe, India, Southeast
Asia, Middle East and The Americas. Finally, this category also includes business travel casts, advertising and promotion
expenses, conference costs, general liability insurance premiums, communication costs, bad debt expense, training costs and
others.

Foreign exchange

The Company has a US doliar functional currency and the Group adopts a US dollar presentational currency. The Group has
significant and expanding international operations trading in non-US dollar currencies and the functional eurrency of each
subsidiary is dependent on that subsidiary’s operating environment. Movements in global exchange rates can cause currency
exposures to the Group’s consclidated US dollar financial results. Trade is conducted in local currencies and, where
appropriate, borrowings are matched in that currency to mitigate the risk of exposure of the Group's assets and liabilities to
exchange rate movements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Foreign exchange {continued)

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. At each reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the reporting
date. All differences are taken to the Consolidated Income Statement. The Group includes foreign currency exchange gains
and losses relating to external debts within Finance Expense, while those relating to intercempany and other operational
activities are included within Other Gains/{Losses),

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US dollar at exchange
rates prevailing at the date of the Consolidated Balance Sheet; profits and losses are translated at average exchange rates for
the relevant accounting periods. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income and are included in the Group's Currency Translation Reserve. Such translation differences are
recognised as income or expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Where intercompany loans that are considered to be permanent in nature are in place between two entities with different
functional currencies, these loans are cansidered to be part of the Group’s net investment in each entity. In these cases, the
impact of any retranslation during the year is included directly in the Group’s Currency Translation Reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the clesing rate.

Post-employment and similar obligations

The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including both defined benefit and defined contribution pension
plans and post-employment medical plans.

Pension obligations

The liability or asset recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and
that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

A surplus on a defined benefit pension plan is recognised to the extent that the Group is able to recover econamic benefits
through reductions in or suspension of future contributians.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the
fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in Finance Expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Re-measurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised
in the period in which they occur, directly in Other Comprehensive Income. They are included in Retained Earnings in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Changes inthe present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognised
immediately in the Consclidated Income Statement as past service costs.

For defined contribution ptans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on
amandatory, contractual, or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or areduction in the future payments is available.

Other post-employment obligations

Some Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is
usually conditicnal on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service
period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the pericd of employment using the same accounting
methodology as used for defined benefit pension plans. Re-measurement gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to Equity in Other Comprehensive Income in the
period in which they arise. These cbligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

Post-employment and similar obligations (continued)

Share-based payments

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based compensation plans, under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
forthe grant of the optionsis recognised as an expense over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted and estimation of the number of options that expect to vest.

The fair value of the employee services received under share-based payment plans is recognised as an expense in the
Consclidated Income Statement. For the equity-settled compensation plans, the corresponding entry is recognised directly in
equity reserves.

Fair value is calculated by using the Monte-Carlo and discounted cash fiow methods for share option schemes. The amount
charged over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of share incentives excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are considered within the assumptions to estimate the number
of share incentives that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement over the remaining vesting period with corresponding adjustments made to the share
compensation liability and equity reserve, respectively,

The application of both the Monte-Carlo method and discounted cash flow method require the application of a number of
assumptions including volatility, share price, early exercise provision, pestvesting withdrawal rates, discount rate, risk free
interest rate, and expected life to exercise.

Exceptional items

Fxceptional items are those significant items which are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full
understanding of the Group’s financial performance. Transactions which may give rise to exceptional items include the
following:

. corporate restructure costs;

«  acquisition costs;

s integration costs;

sale and leaseback costs;

write-off of property, plant, equipment;

associated legal fees of the above items; and
incremental costs due to the global COVID-19 pandemic.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption ameunt is recognised in
the Consolidated Income Statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the {oan to the extent that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there js no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee js capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-
convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
maturity of the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the cenversion option. This is recognised and included in
Shareholders’ Equity, net of income tax effects,

Borrowings are removed from the Consolidated Balance Sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelied or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in the Consolidated income Statement as Other Income or a Finance Expense.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Borrewings (continued)

Where the terms of a financial liability are re-negotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all
or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments
issued. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or madification is treated as the de-recognition of the
original liability and the recegnition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement

Bank overdrafts are classified as current liabilities in Interest-Bearing Loans, Boerrowings and Overdrafts (refer to Note 23
Interest-bearing loans, borrowings and overdrafts).

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period oftime to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrewings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Taxation

The tax expense included in the Consolidated Income Statement consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax is the
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year. Tax expense is calculated using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. Tax expense is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or directly in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity, in which case it is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or
directly in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet tiability method, praviding for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Provisions are
made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries when it is expected that
this will be repatriated to the shareholder. In addition, the timing of the remittance must be able to be contrelled and there
must be no intention te remit.

The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, for which a deferred tax
liability has not been recognised, aggregate to $511.0 million {2021: $478.6 million). No deferred tax liability has been
recognised on the potential withhelding tax due on the remittance of undistributed profits as the Group is able to control the
timing of such remittances and it is probable that consent will not be given in the foreseeable future.

The carrying ameunt of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current
taxation assets against current taxation liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a net basis.

Dividends

Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the peried in which they are approved by the Group’s shareholders.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises of:

e fairvalues of the assets transferred;

+ liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

e equity interests issued by the Group,

e fairvalue of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and
s fairvalue of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquired entity that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s et assets in the event of liquidation are
measured either at fair value or the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. All other components of non-contrelliing interests are measured at their acquisition
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity, over the fair value of the
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recegnised directly in the Consclidated Income Statement as a bargain
purchase,

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted ta their
present valye as at the date of acquisition. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions,

Contingent consideration is classified as a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are re-measured
subsequently to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the acquisition
occurred, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets and liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill is measured initially at cost. At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is recognised as an asset and
is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (*CGUs”) or groups of CGUs {“CGU Groups™, expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination. Each school is considered to be a CGU. Goodwil] is allocated to CGU Groups at a
regional level and is monitored and tested for impairment at this level by management.

Goedwill is not subject to annual amortisation but is assessed forimpairment at least annually or more frequently if there are
indications that goodwill might be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the CGU
Groups, as set out above. An impairment loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of the CGU Group is less than its
carrying amount. The recoverable amount of a CGU Group is caiculated as the higher of the value-in-use (VIU} and fair value
less costs to sell (FVLCTS). VIU is calculated on a discounted cash flow basis by applying appropriate long-term growth rates
and discount rates, based on historical trends adjusted for management’s estimates of future prospects. FVLCTS is caiculated
using actual EBITDA and EBITDA multiples, Refer to Critical accounting estimates and judgements relating to Goodwill
allocation and impairment testing for further information.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint ventures and associates is included within the carrying value of the investment.

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the profit or loss an disposal.

32



B

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued}

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Acguin ed intangible assets

Scparately acquired intangible assets such as brands/trademarks, customer relationships, contracts and software are
measured initially at cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Intangibles with finite useful lives are carried at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships Up to 16 years straight line

Brands Up to 50 years or indefinite life

License contracts Length of contract/lease on a straight-line basis
Website & intellectual property 3 years straight line

Computer software 3 years straight line

Gains and losses arising [1om de-recognition ot an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposat
preceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement when the asset is
derecognised.

Brand name

Legally protected or otherwise separable brand names acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair value
on acquisition. For some of the brand names in Western Europe, Management’s expectation is to retain brand names within
the business for an indefinite life due to the nature and premium associated with the brand names that the Group has acquired
and as such they are not amortised and are therefore subject to an annual impairment review (see Note 16 Intangible assets).

Brand names with finite usefuf lives are carried at cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 50 years.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and associated liabilities are classified as held for sale when their carrying amount wiil be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use and a sale is highly probable. Assets designated as held for
sale are held at the lower of carrying amount at designation and fair value less costs to sell.

Depreciation is not charged against property, plant and equipment classified as held fer sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment
in value. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working
condition for its intended use, Depreciation is provided at rates calcuiated to write off the cost, less the estimated residual
value, of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives and depreciation rates are as
follows:

Freehold and long leasehold buildings 25 to 50 years straight line

Short leasehold land and buildings The unexpired term of the lease on a straight-line basis
Computer equipment 3 to 6 years straight line

Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years straight line

Fixtures and fittings 3to 7 years straight line

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset
is accounted for by changing the depreciation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates.

Expenditure on assets in the course of construction is capitalised within property, plant and equipment as incurred and when
development is completed, it is transferred to the appropriate asset category and depreciated.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goedwill is allocated initially to a CGU Group and tested for impairment at this level. Refer to Critical accounting estimates
and judgements relating to Goodwill allocation and impairment testing for further information. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at least annually by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU Group to which the goodwill relates. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. When the recoverable amount is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment [oss is recognised. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income
Statement and is not subsequently reversed.

For all other nen-financial assets (including other Intangible Assets and Property, Plant and Equipment}, the Group performs
impairment testing where there are indicators of impairment. If such an indicator exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows
that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset betongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
CGU} is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU} is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Animpairment loss is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of the recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recagnised for the asset {or CGU) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately as a credit to the Consolidated Income Statement. This does not
apply to impairment losses of goodwill, which cannot be reversed.

Leases
Group as a lessee

Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises a lease liability and a right-of-use asset at the lease commencement date. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, as is the case in the vast majority of the
leasing activities of the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, which is the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an assetin a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index/rate or a change in the Group’s assessment of whether
itwillexercise an extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made
to the right-of-use asset.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the initial amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct
costs incurred and any lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, less any lease incentives received,
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier
of the end of the useful life of the asset or the end of the lease term.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less at commencement date. Low
value assets are assets with a value of less than §5,00¢ when new, typicaily small items of IT equipment, office equipment and
office furniture.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision forimpairment. The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approachto measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. When measuring expected
credit losses, the Group considers the risk of probability that a credit loss occurs by reflecting the possibility that a credit loss
occurs and possibility that no credit loss occurs, The carrying amount of the asset is reduced threugh the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. When a receivable is uncollectible,
it is written-off against the allowance account for receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, term and call deposits held with banks and cther short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, Bank overdrafts are classified as current liabilities in Interest-
bearing loans, borrowings and overdrafts (refer to Note 23}.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less {or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial assets

I Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit orloss); and
+  thosete be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows. The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assects
changes,

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses can be recarded either in profit or loss (FVYPL) or in Other Comprehensive
Income (FYOCI).
(i} Recognition and derecognition

Regularway purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date (that is, the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset). Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Financial assets {continued}

{iir) Measurement

Atinitial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not held at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FYPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
selely payment of principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

«  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

. FYOC!: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOC). Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and !osses are presented in other gains/{losses), and
impairment expenses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

s FVYPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCl are measured at FVPL. A galn or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other
gains/{losses) in the period in which it arises.

(i) Impairment

The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FYOCL. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, sec Note 19 for further details.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into.
Derivatives are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The Group does not apply
hedge accounting to any of its derivatives. As such, the Group recognises subsequent changes in fair value of its derivatives
immediately in its Consolidated Income Statement.

Derivatives with a positive fair value are recognised as financial assets and derivatives with a negative fair value are recognised
asfinancial liabilities. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current fiabilities,

Offsetting of financialinstruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

s the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
= itis more likely than not that an outflow of rescurces will be required to settle the obligation; and
¢ the amount can be estimated reliably.

Provisions for dilapidation costs are recognised on a lease-by-lease basis.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of cbligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific
to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage oftime is recognised as an interest
expense.

Where the Group expects amounts to be received in relation to a provision, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset when its receipt is considered virtually certain,

Loss contingencies

The Group is subject to various claims and contingencies which are in the scope of ordinary and routine litigation incidental
to the business, including those related to regulation, litigation, business transactions and employee-related matters and
taxes. When a claim or potential claim is identified, the likelihood of any loss or exposure is assessed. If it is probable that a
loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, a liability for the loss is recorded in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The liability recorded includes probable and estimable legal costs incurred to date and future legal costs. If the
loss is not probable or the amount of the loss cannot be reascnably estimated, the claim is disclosed if the likelihood of a
potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount of the potential loss could be material. For matters where no loss
contingency is recorded, legal fees are expensed as incurred.

Share capital

Share capital issued by the Group is recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Equity instruments

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

¢ theyinclude no contractual obligations upon the Company (or Group as the case may be} to deliver cash or other
financial assets or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Company (or Group); and

«  where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative
that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative
that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging of a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed
number of its own equity instruments,

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument
so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called
up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and key judgments

The preparation of the consolidated Group financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various cther factors that are believed to be
reasanable under the circumstances, Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assurnptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.

Key Judgments

Key Judgements that are applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include:

Goodwill allocation and impairment testing

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisitions over the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition. Fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities that existed at the date of acquisition, reflecting their condition at that date.

1AS 36 indicates that goodwill acquired in a business combination shali, from the acquisition date, be allocated to each of the
cash-generating units {(“CGUs") or groups of CGUs (“CGU Groups”), expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination. Each CGU or CGU Group shall not be larger than an operating segment. Judgement is involved in determining
the allocation of goodwil!.

Management considers that a CGU is an individual school. Goodwill is monitored and tested for impairment at a regional level.
The allocation at a regional level more appropriately represents the level at which the business operations, and goodwill, is
monitored and the level at which management decisions are made, which is in line with the operating segments identified in
terms of [FRS 8, Additional information is disclesed in note 16 Intangible assets.

Acquired intangible assets & tangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goedwill if those assets are
identifiable and their fair value can he measured reliably. Judgement is involved when determining the fair value of the
intangible assets, in terms of determining the future profitability and cash flows of those assets, royalty rates, life of customer
base and the appropriate weighted average cost of capital. The subsequent impairment reviews equally require continuing
assessment of the above factors as well as continugus assessment of the assets’ lives. Gains and losses arising from de-
recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and are recognised in the Consclidated Income Statement when the asset is derecognised.

Tangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are measurad initially at fair value, if it can be measured
refiably. Judgement is required to determine the fair value of acquired tangible assets including determining the appropriate
valuation basis to adopt and the assumptions used in the calculation therein. The Group has applied the “market approach”
basis in order to estimate the fair market value of the significant acquired properties in the year.

feases

In determining the lease liability and right-of-use asset, judgement is involved in determining the appropriate discount rate
to calculate the lease liability and the lease term where contracts inciude extension and/or termination options. Extension
and termination options are included in a number of property leases across the Group to facilitate operational flexibility,
particularly with staff accommodation leases. The majority of termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and
not by the respective lessor. In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension or termination aption. Periods of extension are only included in the lease term if
it is reasonably certain that the lease will be extended. Periods after the date of a termination option are only included in the
lease term if it is reasonably certain that the lease will not be terminated. The assessment of the lease term is reviewed if a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs that is within the control of the Group.

For the discount rates, IFRS 16 states that the interest rate implicit in the lease should be used, i.e. the rate of interest that
causes the present value of lease payments and the unguaranteed residual value to equal the sum of the fair value of the
underlying asset and any initial direct cost of the lessor. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee should instead
use its incremental borrowing rate {IBR), The IBR is the rate of interest that alessee would have to pay to borrow, over asimilar
term and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a simitar value to the cost of the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued}

1 Accounting policies {continued)

Critical accounting estimates and key judgments (continued)

Leases (continued)

The implicit rate in the lease would require the Group to have access to its lessors’ sensitive information in relation to the
pricing of contracts and returns being made, which it does not. Therefore, the Group uses IBRs as the discount rate across all
their leases.

The IBR is calculated based cn {ij the sum of the risk free rate of the country in which the school operates and (ii) the credit
spread derived from comparable bonds with companies operating in educational services industry and with similar credit
rating as NAE.

Controf and consolidation

The resuits of certain companies are consolidated by the Group even though the Group holds less than a majority equity
interest in these companies. The Group gained contrel by utilising a legal structure or through contractual arrangements
which allowed it to exercise its voting rights (power), receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by
the schools (exposure to variable returns) and exercise effective financial and operational control over the activities that most
significantly affect the economic performance of the schools {ahility to use power to affect the amount of variable returns).

Refer to note 17 Investments, for further information on structured entities and specific considerations made around control.

Functional currency

In assessing the functional currencies of the Group's subsidiaries, management exercises judgement in relation to whether
the subsidiaries are to be treated as an extension of the reporting entity or whether they operate with a significant degree of
autonomy. For those subsidiaries that are not deemed to have local autonomy they follow the functional currency of the
parent Company or that of ancther company they are operating on behalf of. For those subsidiaries that are deemed to have
local activity/autonomy, the second stage of the assessment is to review factors that impact the functional currency at the
lecal level such as the currency that mainly influences the sales price for its goods and services and the labour materials and
other costs of providing goods and services.

Retransiation of intercompany loans:

The Group holds a number of intercompany loans that are considered tc be long-term in nature and part of the overall funding
of the Group. Where these loans exist between two Group entities with differing functional currencies, the Group's
Consolidated Income Statement is impacted by the retranslation of the loan as the entries do not eliminate on consolidation.

Guidance presented in I1AS 21 states that, when an intercompany loan is considered to be part of the Group's net investment
n a foreign operation, such exchange differences should be recognised initially in other comprehensive income and be
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. The classification of the loan is reassessed on an
ongoing basis, with any adjustment made prospectively from the date of designation.

Taxation

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits. The Group has $76.6
million of recognised deferred tax assets, including $14.3 million of tax losses carried forward and other recognised timing
differences of $62.3 mitlion. The deferred tax asset on recognised tax losses relate to jurisdictions where there is no time
expiration. The Group also has $236.3 million of unrecognised tax losses carried forward and $196.2 million of other
unrecognised deductible temporary differences. These assets relate to suhsidiaries that have a history of losses, which do not
expire, and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. The subsidiaries neither have any taxable
temporary difference nor any cpportunities available that could partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax
assets. On this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried forward.
If the Group was able to recognise all unrecognised deferred tax assets, profit and equity would have increased by $104.1
million net based on the statutcry tax rate of each respective country and company where the directors do not recognise a
deferred tax asset. This would lead to a total deferred tax asset of $180.7 million. Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed
in Note 12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities,
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)
1 Accounting policies (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and key judgments {continued)

Taxation (continued)

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions but also enjoys tax concessions and benefits for schools in
jurisdictions including Hong Kong, Thailand and Mexico. Significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
recorded initially, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. The Group believes that it has provided for all probable and estimable tax liabilities and thus therefare
does not expect any liability arising from audits to have a material impact on the Group's results of operations, liquidity,
capital resources or financial position.

The Group is subject to tax regulations across multiple territories. The Group monhitors proposed legislative changes
to tax regulations in relevant territories but does notrecognise the tax impact of proposed changes until they are legally
effective, and an obligation exists.

There are undistributed earnings in multiple territories, some of which are subject to withholding tax. If paid out as dividends,
these would be subject to tax in the hands of the recipient. An assessable temporary difference exists, but no deferred tax
liability has been recognised on such undistributed earnings as the parent entity is able to control the timing of the
distributions frem the subsidiaries and it is not expected to distribute these profits in the foreseeable future.

Critical accounting estimates

Critical estimates and assumptions that are applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements inciude:

Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, at fair values at each reporting date. Fair value related
disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where the fair values are
disclosed, are summarised in the following notes:

+«  Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions Note 1, 18, 19
s Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy Note 19
- Financial instruments {including those carried at amortised cost) Note 19

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a fiability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

e inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or
= inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the mest advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant cbservable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Al assets and liabitities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

s Level ! - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

s tevel 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

s Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unchservable
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)
1 Accounting policies (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and key judgments {continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reparting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosuras, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

Amounts owed by refated parties

Amounts owed by related parties primarily comprise intercompany loans and trading balances with entities in the wider
group. Related party balances are reviewed for recoverability and impaired by calculating the expected credit loss (ECL} in line
with IFRS 9. The expected credit loss is based on management's current best estimate of the ability of the counterparty to
make repayments. A key assumption used in the assessment includes the forecasted underlying performance of the related
parties. When assessing the amounts due from related party entities whose ability to settle those balances is ultimately
dependent on the repayment of loans and trading balances advanced to entities formerly controlled by the NAEML group, the
lifetime ECL is based on a model of management's current best estimate of the repayment profile of the amounts due from
these formerly controlled businesses. A key assumption used in determining the ECL is the timing of repayments which itself
is dependent on management's forecast of the future performance of the formerly controlled businesses including the
expected growth in pupil numbers.

Pension obligations

The present value of pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using key
estimates around the discount rate, price inflation, rate of increase in salaries and life expectancy. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. Refer to note 9 Employee benefits for the sensitivity
analysis performed on these assumptions.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to
determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of Exchange Fund Notes that are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of
the related pension liahility.
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Correction of prior period error

As at 31 August 2021, no impairment was recognised relating to receivables from related parties. When performing the
impairment assessment for the current financial year, it was noted that receivables from related parties were impaired by a
total of $155.6 million. It was further noted that indicators of impairment existed 31 August 2021 and that $46.5 million of the
impairment relates to the prior financial year. As a result, exceptional expenses were understated and receivables from related

parties overstated.

The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the prior periods, as follows:

Consolidated Income Statement (extract)

Exceptional expenses
Operating profit

Profit before tax

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive expense for the year
Attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Consolidated Balance Sheet (extract)

Trade and other receivables
Net Assets

Retained earnings
Total equity

The correction of the error has impacted certain amounts disclosed in notes 6, 19, 20 and 29,

2021
Sm

(9.7

181.3

49.1

2.0

217
0.3

71.2
0.4

31 August
2021
sm

148.5
800.8

435.2
800.8

Profit Increase/
(Decrease)

Sm
{46.5)
(46.5)
(46.5)

(46.5)

(48.5)

(46.5)

(46.5)

Profit Increase/
(Decrease)
Sm

Restated*
2021
Sm

(56.2)
134.8

2.6

(24.5)
{24.8}

0.3

25.1

24.7

0.4
Restated”
31 August

2021
Sm

102.0
754.3

392.7
754.3
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

2 Segmental analysis

The Group’s reporting segments are determined based on the Group’s internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(“CODM™). The CODM has been determined to be the Executive Committee (“EXCO"} as it is primarily responsible for the
allocation of resources to segments and the assessment of performance of the segments,

The CODM considers the principal activities of the Group to be:

*  Premium Schools and associated activities in:
China International - People’s Republic of China and Hong Kong SAR;
Europe - Switzerland, Stovakia, Hungary, Czech Republic, Spain, Poland, the Netherlands, Ireland, Russia, United
Kingdem, Uztzekistan;
Southeast Asia, Middle East and India {“*SEAMEI") - Cambodia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, United Arab Emirates,
Joerdan, India; and
The Americas - United States of America, Mexice, Panama, Brazil, Ecuador and Paru.

* Unallocated - being the unallocated operations, related to Central & Regional head office costs and the Learning
Services division.

The CODM uses Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA, which represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation,
impairment, exceptional and other management exceptional items, exchange gain/(loss), other gain/(loss}, and gain/{loss} on
disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, as reviewed at monthly EXCO meetings, as the key measures
of the segments’ results as they reflect the segments’ underlying trading performance for the financial year under evaluation.
Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA are consistent measures within the Group. Segment Adjusted EBITDA is an adjusted measure
of operating profit and measures the performance of each segment.

The segment results, the reconciliation of the segment measures to the respective statutory items included in the
Consolidated Income Statement, the segment assets and other segment information are as follows:

Year ended 31 August 2022

Total
China The reportable Un-
International Eurcpe SEAMEl Americas segments allocated Total
Sm $m sm $m $m $m $m
Revenue 223.5 400.3 169.9 356.2 1,149.9 38.8 1,188.7
Adjusted EBITDA 87.2 108.6 56.1 67.7 329.6 {24.5} 305.1
Adjusted EBITDA margin 43,5% 27.1% 33.0% 19.0% 28.7% 25.7%
Year ended 31 August 2021
Total
China The reportable Un-
International Europe  SEAMEl  Americas segments  allocated Total
sm $m $m $m $m sm Sm
Revenue 214.8 342.4 160.0 291.1 1,608.3 35.6 1,047.9
Adjusted EBITDA 94.8 84.6 45.3 44.9 269.6 (20.8) 248.8
Adjusted EBITDA margin 44.1% 24.7% 28.3% 15.4% 26.7% 23.7%
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to loss after tax

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjustmenits:

Exceptional items

Other management exceptional items™

Gther losses

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Depreciation

Amortisation

Impairment (charge)/reversal

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance expense - loans and borrowings

{Loss}/Profit before tax
Income tax expense

{Loss)/Profit for the year

MNote

13,14
Fig
16,22

17
10, 23,24

11

Ly

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

f

Restated*

2022 2021
$m m
305.1 248.8
(113.4) (56.2)
104.0 102.3
{14.7} (3.9)
0.6 0.8
{138.7) {136.7)
{24.1) {20.7}
(2.3) 0.4
116.5 134.8
18.6 11.6
{150.1) (143.8)
{15.0) 2.6
(41.2) (27.1}
(56.2) (24.5)

=  Other management exceptional items are costs or credits which fall cutside the definition of being exceptional for IFRS
reporting but it is the view of the CODM that these costs should be highlighted so that the underlying profit of the Group

can be fully evaluated.

In2022, this amount includes a share-based payment charge of $2.7 million (Refer to Note 9 Employee benefits and Note
7 Staff numbers and costs), management fees of $7.5 million, $0.2 million of pre-epening costs, non-recurring employee
recruitment, relocation and severance costs of $3.7 million and non-cash portion of straight-line rent charges of $1.1

million. The remaining adjustments largely consist of frozen GAAP add-backs in relation to IFRS 15 and IFRS 16.

In 2021, this amountincludes a share-based payment charge of $8.3 miilion (Refer to Note 9 Employee benefits and Note
7 Staff numbers and costs), management fees of $7.7 million, 50.3 million of pre-opening costs, nen-recurring empioyee
recruitment, relocation and severance costs of $3.6 million and non-cash partion of straight-line rent charges of $1.3

million. The remaining adjustments largely consist of frozen GAAP add-backs in relation to IFRS 15 and IFRS 16.

* The comparative information has been restated. Please see further information in note 1

Year ended 31 August 2022

Property, plant and

equipment China
international  Europe  SEAME!
$m sm $m

Capital expenditure

(excluding acquisitions

through business

combinations) 21.7 13.7 6.1

The
Americas
Sm

Total
reportable
segments

im

Un-
allocated
$m

Total
im
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

2 Segmental analysis [continied)
Year ended 31 August 2021

Property, plant and

equipment China
International

Sm

Capital expenditure

(excluding acquisitions

through business

combinations) 8.7

3 Net revenue and Deferred revenue

Europe

Sm

7.0

SEAMEI!
sm

The
Americas

Sm

Total
reportable
segments
$m

30.9

Un-
allocated
sm

Total
Sm

30.9

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time across the following major

service lines {net of discounts}:

Gross curriculum fee revenue
COVID-19 support!

Net curriculum fee revenue
Extra-curricular fee revenues
Enrolment fee revenues
Other ancillary services

2022 2021
Sm Sm
929.3 859.7

- 4.7
929.3 864.4
158.9 94.6
30.0 32.1
70.5 56.8
1,188.7 1,047.9

! During 2020, schools pravided COVID relief to existing students in the form of credit notes to be utilised during the 2621
academic year, thus creating an additional performance obligation. The total consideration due under these contracts was
reallocated against the performance obligations on a standalone basis, and 2020 revenue was adjusted by $5.0 million to
reflect the amcunt of consideration pertaining to those performance obligations not yet satisfied at 31 August 2020. This
revenue was recognised in 2021 when the credit notes were utilised. This did not impact 2022 revenue.

The Group’s revenue by geographic location was as follows:

USA

Other Americas
China

Switzerland

Other Europe and UK
SEAMEI

2022 2021
Sm Sm
258.9 2245
97.3 68.3
223.5 2153
182.2 1716
256.9 208.2
169.9 160.0
1,188.7 1,047.9

The revenue by geographic location shows countries which contribute significant amounts to overall revenue.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

3 Net revenue and Deferred revenue (continued)

The Group’s deferred revenue balances are classified as follows:

2022 2021

$m $m

Current liabilities 714.4 672.3
Non-current liabilities 43.1 40,7
757.5 713.0

within deferred revenue and other payables, the Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

2022 2021
$m sm
Current liabilities
Contract liability — expected refunds 6.4 7.0
Contract tiability — material rights - Sibling discounts 2.4 2.4
Contract liability — material rights - Scholarship awards 1.8 1.5
10.6 10.9
Non-current liabilities
Contract liability - material rights - Sibling discounts 8.5 7.7
Contract liability - materiat rights - Scholarship awards 2.5 2.2
11.0 9.9
Balance at 31 August 21.6 20.8

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities:

Material rights Expected refunds

2022 2021 2022 2021

$m Sm $m Sm
Balance at the beginning of the year (13.8) (20.0) {7.0) {12.3)
Originated (4.4) (4.1) {6.4) {7.0)
Reversed/settied - - 7.0 12.3
Utilised/expired 3.0 10.3 - -
Balance at the end of the year (15.2) {12.8) (6.4) (7.0
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

3 Net revenue and Deferrcd revenue (vontinued}

Material rights in respect of sibling discounts and scholarship awards become revenue on the utilisation of that right
throughout the student’s education. They are amortised on a straight-line basis over the average student tenure (which varies
by region). Material rights in respect of COVID-19 support costs becomes revenue on the utilisation of the credit note over the
period in which the credit is being applied to.

Refunds are recognised as revenue, on a basis consistent with the delivery of the curriculum once the conditions for refund
have expired.

The amounts disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is constrained.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Deferred revenue has increased year-on-year due to the impact of acquisitions.

4 Expenses and auditors’ remuneration
Included in the Consolidated income Statement are the following:

Note 2022 2021
$m s$m
Staff costs 7 (470.1) (445.0)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.8 0.8
Expense relating to short term leases and low value assets (3.8) (4.1}
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities (2.5) (1.6)
Inventories recopnised as an expense (3.5) (3.4)
Depreciation in cost of sales 13, 14 {130.5) (125.9)
Depreciation in selling, general and administrative expenses 13, 14 (8.2) (10.8)
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 (24.1) {20.7)
Loss on disposal of assets held for sale 22 {0.2) -
Impairment of assets held for sale (reversal)/charge 22 - 0.4
Impairment of intangible assets 16 {2.3) -
Auditors’ remuneration:
2022 2021
$m sm
Fees payable to Company’s auditors for the audit of parent Company and
consolidated financial statements 0.2 6.2
Disclosure below based on fees payable in respect of services to the
Company and its subsidiaries
Fees payable to Group’s auditors and their subsidiaries in respect of:
The audit of subsidiaries performed in connection with the consolidated
financial statements 0.8 0.8
The audit of subsidiaries performed in connection with the local *
statutory financial statements 0.4 0.2
Tax advisory, compliance and legal services 0.1 0.1

All other services . ) )

Represents fees paid for advisory services in relation to corporate development activities.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (conti

nuéd)

5 Other losses
2022 2021
S$m Sm
(a) Fairvalue gains 193 4.5 1.5
{b} Bargain purchase gain 18 - 2.3
(¢} Foreign exchange losses, net {19.2) (7.7)
{14.7) (3.9}

(a} Gainsrelate to $0.7 million gain {2021: nil) on cross currency interest rate swaps and $3.8 million gain {2021: $2.3 million
gain) on embedded lease derivatives. During the prior year losses of (2021: $0.8million) relate to the acquisition of the

remaining shares in Camplife Ltd.

(b} Gains of $2.3 million relate to the acquisition of Colegio Peruanoc in Peru were restated (see note 18 Business

combinations).

{c) Representsthe revaluation of intercompany balances denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
each subsidiary and foreign exchange gains and losses on the revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities.

6 Exceptional expenses

Exceptional administrative expenses

{a} Acquisitions

(b} Integration

{¢} Litigations

{d) CoviD-19

(e} Other

(fi Impairment of related party receivables

(a) Acquisition costs

Restated™

2022 2021
$m sm
3.4 7.7
0.8 0.7

- 1.0

- (0.1}

0.1 0.4
109.1 46.5
113.4 56.2

Acquisition related costs incurred in the year ended 31 August 2022 relate to acquisitions of the Greengates Schoal, S.C. in
Mexico, Hamelin 2, S.L. in Spain and Amman Academy in Jordan (refer to note 18 Business Combinations).

(b} Integration costs

Integration costs incurred in the year ended 31 August 2022 relate to continued integration of schools previously acguired.

(c/ Litigation

Cemprises legai costs refating to litigation within the wider Group from when it went private on 1 September 2017.

(d) covip-1s

These are costs relating specifically to the global pandemic, which would otherwise not have been incurred. These costs
include, but are not limited to, teacher travel, relocation and accommodation costs and additional cleaning resources. The
creditfigure is due to the remaining unutilised accrual being reversed, superseding the expense incurred during the prior year.

Refer to note 26.

fe) Other

These costs have been incurred for various projects throughout the year, of which the largest portion relates to the various IT

projects throughout the year which do not meet the criteria for capitalisation.

() impairment of related party receivables
Animpairment loss of $109.1m (2021: $46.5m} was recognised on related party receivables,

* The comparative information has been restated. Please see further information in note 1.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

7 Staff numbers and costs

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year, analysed by category,
was as follows:

2022 2021

Number Number
Senicr leadership team 174 107
Central/regional support 3,246 3,039
Teaching staff 5,870 5,524
9,290 8,670

The aggregate employee benefit expense of the persons employed by the Group (including directors) was as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

2022 2021

$m Sm
416.1 397.3
a42.7 37.5
11.3 10.2
470.1 445.0
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

8 Key management personnel

2022 2021
Note $m Sm
Fees, salaries and other short-term employment benefits 13.5 145

Share based payments - settlement g - -
Share based paymerits - vesting 32 3.0 8.0
Other benefits 1.9 11
18.4 236

Included in staff costs are the emoluments of the key management personnel comprising the directors and senior managers
who received emoluments, as noted above. Emoluments for two key management personnel are borne outside of the
consolidated Group through a fellow subsidiary of Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited and as such are excluded

from the table abowve.

Directors’ emoluments

2022 2021
$m $m
Aggregate emoluments 4.9 4.9
Social security costs 0.7 0.5

Company contributions to defined contribution scheme - -
5.6 5.4

The highest paid director’s aggregate emoluments in respect of qualifying services

were: 2022 2021
$m sm
Remuneration 2.3 2.4
Social security costs 0.3 0.2

Company contributions to defined contribution scheme -
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee benefits

Pension plans

The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded defined contribution and
funded and unfunded defined benefit schemes. The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit pension schemes
for the Group's employees in the UK, Switzerland, and Ecuador.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension plans. The total expense relating to these plans in the current
year was $4.9 million {2021: $3.6 million), recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Defined benefit plans

United Kingdom

The Group aperates a defined benefit scheme, Lifetime Carcers scheme (“Lifetime™), estabiished for Lifetime Careers
employees {employed by a Group subsidiary). The Group operated two other schemes: the Nord Anglia Joint Pension Scheme
(*Joint”) and The Wyburn School Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme (1985} {(“Wyburn”}, which were merged with the
Lifetime scheme ("UK scheme") in January 2021.

The assets of the UK scheme are held as a segregated fund and administered by Trustees. Contributions are determined by
independent professianally qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations. An independent actuary, has carried out a
full triennial actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 August 2020, using the projected unit method. The actuarial valuation
as at 31 August 2020 has been updated to 31 August 2022.

The plans are subject to the funding legislation, which came into force on 30 December 2005, as outlined in the Pensions Act
2004,

The UK Schemes are regulated by The Pensions Regulator (TPR}), which is the public bady that protects workplace pensionsin
the UK. They work with employers and those running pensions so that people can save safely for their retirement.

The level of retirement benefit within the schemes is principally based on salary earned in the last few years of employment
prior to leaving active service and is linked to changes in inflation up to retirement.

Closure of schemes

At 31 August 2011, all three schemes were closed to future accruals and active members became deferred pension members,
Whilst the Group will continue to make future employer contributions to the schemes, member contributions wilt no longer
be made.

The Company has agreed with the Trustees of the scheme that it will aim to eliminate the pension plan deficit, that existed at
the time, over a pericd of five years and one month from 1 September 2018, by payment of annual contributions of £3,251,000
relating to the Lifetime scheme (pre-merger} increasing at 3.0% per annum in respect of the deficit. Additionally, the Company
has agreed with the Trustees to meet the expenses of the plan and pay amounts into the plan equalto the levies to the Pension
Protection Fund.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)
9 Employee benefits (continued)

Other

The most significant cther schemes are the funded defined benefit schemes which operate in Switzerland, together referred
1o as the Swiss schemes, and in Ecuador.

The Swiss schemes are based on a three pillars” regime guaranteed by articles 111-114, 116 and 117 of the Swiss Federal
Constitution, namely:

e  The state pension system {governed by the Federal Act on Old-Age and Services’ Insurance, The Federal Act on
Disability Insurance, and their ordinances);

*  Theoccupational pension system {governed by the Federal Act on Occupational Retirement, The Survivors and
Disabitity Pensions Plans, The Federal Act on Vesting in Pension Plans; and their ordinances};

e  Theindividual pension plan system (governed by the Federal Act on Insurance Contracts}.

An independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried cut the latest actuarial assessment of the Swiss schemes as
at 31 August 2022.

Swiss pension fund law is governed by the Swiss Federal Act on Gccupational Retirement, Survivars' and Disability Pension
Plans. It ensures the application of consistent supervisory practices within the cccupational benefits system and oversees the
eight regicnal authorities responsible for direct supervision.

The supreme body of the provident institution ensures the general management of the scheme, ensures the execution of its
legal tasks and determines its strategic objectives and principles as well as the means enabling them to be implemented. It
defines the organisation of the provident institution, ensures its financial stability and oversees its management,

Occupational pension or provident fund in favour of the personnel is financed by the employer and the employees. It grants
benefits which, combined with ald age and survivors' insurance and disability insurance, should allow the insured to
adequately maintain one's standard of living prior to retirement or in case of disability, or in case of death, to ensure a
minimum level of subsistence for survivors.

(n August 2019, the Group acquired two schools in Ecuador, which led to the addition of another defined benefit scheme. The
Ecuador scheme is the life pension that employees, who have provided their services continuously or uninterrupted for
twenty-five years or more, are entitled to receive from their employer in accordance with the current Ecuador Labor Code. An
independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest actuarial assessment of the Ecuador scheme as
at 31 August 2022,

In addition, there is a defined benefit scheme in Thailand, one in Indonesia, and ane in the Netherlands arising on acquisition
in 2018, which in aggregate are immaterial to the Group results.

Through its defined benefit pension plans, the Group is exposed to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk,
mortality risk, and longevity risk. A decrease in corporate bond yields, arise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would
result in an increase in plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the balance sheet position and may give rise to
increased charges in future P&L accounts, This effect would be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plarn’s bond
holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee benefits {continued)

Ihrough its defined benefit pension plans, the Group is exposed te actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk,
mortality risk, and longevity risk. A decrease in corporate bond yields, arise in inflation or an increase in life expectancy would
result in an increase in plan liabilities. This would detrimentally impact the balance sheet position and may give rise to
increased charges in future P&L accounts. This effect would be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plan’s bond
holdings. Additionally, caps on inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation.

The valuations used for IAS 19 Employee Benefits (IAS 19} have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and
updated to take account of the requirements of 1AS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme as at 31 August 2022. The
details of the IAS 19 valuations are set outin the following tables:

Principal assumptions

The major assumptions, on a weighted average basls, used by the actuaries were as follows:

UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % L) % %
Discount rate 4.3 1.7 1.5-1.6 0.1-0.2 5.0 3.2
Price inflation 3.7 35 L0 0.5-1.0 1.3 11
Rate of increase in salaries nfa n/a 1.0 0.5-1.0 1.3 11
Rate of increase in pension payments 3.4 3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Mortality assumptions
The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the UK and Swiss pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The following table
illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retiring at age 65 at the reporting date.
UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
years years years years years years
Retiring at reporting date Male 21.8 21.7 21.8-22.7 21.8-22.6 11.7 11.7
at age 65 Female 23.5 23.5 23.5-24.5 23.5-24.4 14.3 14.3
Retiring 20 years after the Male 231 23.0 23.5-25.0 23.2-24.9 6.4 6.4
end of the reporting year Fernale 25.1 25.0 25.1-26.5 24.9-26.4 10.7 10.7

Sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to changes in the principal assumptions

The below sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. The impact to the defined benefit
obligations at 31 August would be as follows:

UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% change % change % change % change % change % change
Discount rate increase of 0.25% p.a. {4.3%) (5.6%) (4.0%})* {5.2%)* {1.0%) (2.0%)
Discount rate decrease of 0.25% p.a. 4.5% 5.6% 4.4%? 5.79%* 1.0% 2.0%
Inflation increase of 0.25% p.a. 4.6% 4.6% 0.5%? 0.6%* 2.0% 2.0%
Inflation decrease of 0.25% p.a. (4.3%) {4.6%) (0.5%)* {0.6%)° (1.0%) {2.0%)
Increase in life expectancy of 1 year 4,5% 4,4% 1.6% 2.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Decrease in life expectancy of 1 year (4.4%) (4.4%) (1.6%) {2.1%) (3.0%) {3.0%)

'The sensitivity analysis on the discount rate and inflation of the Swiss schemes was performed using an increase in the rate of 0.25%-0.50%
and a decrease in the rate of 0.25%-0.50% across the schemes.

2The sensitivity analysis on the discount rate of the Swiss schemes was perfermed using an increasein the rate of 0.35%-0.50% and a decrease
in the rate of 0.15%-0.50% across the schemes.

*The sensitivity analysis on inflation of the Swiss schemes was performed using an increase in the rate of 0.50%-1.25% and a decrease in the
rate of 0.50%-0.75% across the schemes.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continue

9 Employee benefits (continued)

Return on scheme assets

The fair value of the assets in the defined benefit pension schemes are as follows:

Equities

Diversified growth assets
Corparate bonds

Cash

With profit funds

Liability driven investments
Insurance assets

Actual return on plan assets

UK schemes
2022 2021
$m sm
1.5 3.7
3.2 B.6
30.6 49.2
6.0 5.6
0.8 2.1
6.3 18.4
48.4 87.6
(24.0} 7.7

Movement in pension assets during the financial year

Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension assets are as follows:

Fair value:

Balance at the beginning of the year
Interest income

Administrative expenses

Return on plan assets greater than
discount rate

Contributions by employer
Contributions by members

Benefits paid

Foreign currency translation

Balance at the end of the year

UK schemes
2022 2021
$m Sm
87.6 69.3
1.4 1.4
(0.5} -
{28.1) 6.3
- 9.6
{1.4) (1.4)
(10.6) 2.4
48.4 B7.6

tngh |

BarE

d)

N

Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021
$m $m $m $m
39.1 43.1 - -
5.8 9.1 - -
31.4 32.5 - -
2.3 2.6 - -
23.7 28.2 - -
102.3 115.5 - -
(9.9} 14.9 - -
Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme

2022 2071 20227 2021
$m Sm $m sm
115.5 97.0 - -
0.1 0.2 - -
{0.1) (0.2) - -
{9.8) 14.7 - -
5.2 5.2 - -
3.9 3.9 - -
{5.5) (4.0) - -
(7.0) (1.3} - -
102.3 115.5 - -
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee benefits (continued)

Movement in pension obligation during the financial year

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension liability are as follows:

UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$m Sm $m $m Sm 5m
Present value;
Balance at the beginning of the year {75.5) (75.9) {127.6) (121.9) {3.1) (2.6)
Current service cost - - {5.9) (6.1} - (0.2)
Past service cost - - 0.2 03 - -
Interest expense {1.2) (1.4 {0.1) (0.2} {0.1) {0.1)
Administrative pxpenses - (0.1) (0.2} (0.2 - -
Actuarial gains/{losses) 23.1 3.0 20.1 (1.1) 0.1 {0.2)
Contributions by members - - {3.9) (3.9} - -
Benefits paid 1.4 1.4 5.5 4.0 0.1 -
Foreign currency translation 9.3 {(2.5) 7.3 1.5 - -
Balance at the end of the year (42.9) (75.5) (104.6) {127.6} (3.0) (3.1}
Asset ceiling - - {3.3) - - -
Closing net pension surplus/{deficit) 55! 2.1 (5.6) (12.1) (3.0) (3.1)

at 31 August

*The surplus on the Lifetime Scheme is considered to be fully recoverable given that the Group is able to recaver economic benefits through potential
reductions in or suspension of future contributions.

Movement in net pension asset/(liability} during the financial year

Changes in the net defined benefit pension asset/(liability) are as follows:

UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$m sm sm Sm im £m
Balance at the beginning of the year 12.1 (6.6} (12.1) (24.9) (3.1) (2.6)
Current service cost - - {5.9} {6.1) - (0.2)
Past service cost - - 0.2 0.3 - -
Administrative expenses (0.5) (0.1 {0.3) (0.4) - -
Interest expense 0.2 - - - {0.1) (0.1)
Contributions by employer - 9.6 5.2 5.2 - -
Contributions by members - - - - - -
Actuarial gains/{losses) {5.0) 9.3 10.3 13.6 0.1 {0.2)
Benefits paid - - - - 0.1 -
Asset ceiling - - (3.3) - - -
Foreign currency translation (1.3) {0.1) 0.3 0.2 - -
Balance at the end of the year 5.5 12.1 {5.6) {12.1} {3.0) (3.1)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {conti

9 Employee benefits {continued)

Historical movement in net pension deficit

The historical movement in defined benefit pension schemes’ assets and liabilities are as follows:

2022 021

Sm Sm

Closing fair value of defined benefit pension assets 150.7 203.1
Asset ceiling (3.3) -
Closing present value of liability {150.5) {206.2)
Net pension deficit (3.1} (3.1}

The deficitin the Netherlands pension scheme amounted to $nil {2021: nit).

poile |

v

L

‘ued)

Unaudited Unaudited

2020 2019 2018
sm sm Sm
166.3 148.9 130.2
1200.4) {180.7) {160.5)
(34.1) {31.8) (30.3)

The amounts that have been charged to the Consolidated income Statement and Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive

Income for the two years ended 31 August are set out below:

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:
Current service cost

Past service cost

Administrative expenses

Analysis of the amount credited/(charged) to
finance income/{expense):

Interest on defined benefit pension assets
interest on defined benefit pension obligation

Net pension finance income/{expense)

Total charged to the Consolidated Income Statement

Re-measurement gains/{losses):

- Actuarial changes arising from changes in
demographic assumptions

- Actuarial changes arising from changes in
financial assumptions

- Experience adjustments

Return on plan asset excluding interest income
impact of asset ceiling

Total gains/{losses) recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Deferred tax liability/{asser)

UK schemes Swiss schemes Ecuador scheme
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$m Sm im Sm im $m
- - {5.9) (6.1) - {0.2)
- - 0.2 0.3 - -
{0.5) (0.1) (0.3) (0.4} - -
1.4 1.4 0.1 0.2 - -
(1.2) (1.4} {0.1) 0.2} (0.1} (0.1)
0.2 - - - {0.1) (0.1)
{0.3) {0.1) {6.0) (6.2) (0.1) {0.3)
0.1 40 - 43 - -
28.4 {4.3) 20.5 (3.3) 0.1 {0.3)
{5.4) 33 {0.4) 2.1) - 0.1
23.1 3.0 20,1 (1.1) 0.1 (0.2)
{28.1) 6.3 (9.8) 147 - -
- - (2.3) - -
(5.0) 3.3 1.0 13.6 0.1 (0.2}
1.2 (1.7) - (1.9) - R
(3.8) 7.6 7.0 11.7 0.1 (0.2)

Total gains/{losses) recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee henefits {continued)

The cumulative loss/{gain) recognised through the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income since the date of
transition to IFRS {1 September 2009) are UK: $14.9 million {2021: $9.9 million); and since the date of acquisition - Switzerland:
${15.6) million (2021: $(8.9) million) and Ecuador: ${0.3} millien {2021: ${0.2) millicn).

Expected contributions

The Group expects to make normal cash contributions of approximately $8.9 million (2021: $4.8 millien) to defined benefit
schemes in the financial year ending 31 August 2022.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 [continued)

o

9 Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

Senior Management Equity Plan (“SMEP”}

A new SMEP was granted to participants in April 2019. The allocation of the SMEP was designed to incentivise senior
management tasked with the responsibility of delivering the long-term objectives of the Company. Under the SMEP,
Partnership interests are granted by Bach Management L.P (a parent of Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited.) to
senior management, Each Unit entitles the holder to distributions of the company upon the consummation of an exit event.

The partnership interests are divided into A, C, D and Preferred Units. The subseription price and econemic rights of each class

are as follows:

Class Subscription
price per unit
Preferred Units  $1.0

A C&D $1.0to §121.0

Sweet Equity nfa

Economic rights

Preferred unit-holders receive the total cumulative capital contributions together with
accrued interest on that amount at 10.0% per annum.

A, C and D unit-holders receive a percentage of the residual eguity value of the
company, after all liabilities of the company are paid and the preferred unit-holders
recelve their distributions. C units alse contain an equity ratchet mechanism designed
to provide holders of these units with a larger share of proceeds as the sponsor equity
investment return increases.

Certain participants in the SMEP are granted with an allccation of “Sweet Equity”, as
an alternative to being issued with physical Partnership Units. An individual’s
allocation is not pre-set and will only be determined at the point of exit based on the
number of Management Participants in the Sweet Equity pool. The total Sweet Equity
poolis set at a maximum of 8.5% of the 10,000 C Units authorised forissue. Asingle unit
of Sweet Equity grants the holder the same economic rights as that of someone holding
asingle Cunit.

The Partnership Units were granted with time-based vesting conditions. All units are issued up-frent upen the receipt of the
subscription price but will be forfeited if the vesting condition is not satisfied.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 2, management has classified the SMEP as an equity-settled scheme from the
perspective of Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited.

The assessed fair value on grant date for a single partnership unit is as follows:

Grant date

16 August 2021

11 November 2020
17-28 December 2020
27 August 2020

5 September 2019

5 April 2019

Fair value

Preferred Ordinary A Ordinary C Ordinary D Sweet
Units Units Units Units Equity

- - 5§138.52 §138.52

- - $89.51 - $89.51

- - 589.51 - $89.51

$0.33 $1.24 - - -
50.59 $9.66 - - -
$0.55 $4.91 $1,011.42 $298.17 $1,011.42

The fair value of each class of Partnership Unit on the grant date is independently determined using the Monte Carlo method.
The key assumptions utilised in the model are as follows:

Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Risk-free rate’
Exercise price per unit

Expected life to exercise
Early exercise provision
Post-vesting withdrawal rate

2022 2021

37.5%to 44.0% 37.5% to 44.0%

0.0% 0.0%

0.2% to 3.5% 0.2%t0 2.3%
Equivalent to Equivalent to
subscription price paid  subscription price paid
Risk-adjusted discount rate for equity valuation® n/a nja
2.0to .4 years 2.0to 4.1 years

nil nil

0.0% 0.0%

Time-based Time-based

Vesting conditions
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee benefits {continued)

Share-based payments {continued}

‘ The risk-free rate is derived from the yield of zero~coupon US Government Bunds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the
award.

*The equity valuation at 31 August is based on an enterprise value, after deducting net debt. The enterprise value in turn is based on the
application of a long-term EBITDA multiple to the consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of Nord Anglia Education Management Limited.

The table below summarises the Partnership Units and Sweet Equity granted under the plan:

Preferred
Units Class A Units Class C Units Class D Units Sweet Equity Total
{thousands} ({(thousands) (thousands) (thousands) {thousands) (thousands)

At 1 September2021 51,183.9 517.0 5.6 1.0 0.5 51,708.0
Settled - - . - _ _
Granted - - 0.8 - - 0.8
Cancelled - - (0.5) - - (0.5)
Exercised - - - - - -
At 31 August 2022 21,183.9 517.0 5.9 1.0 0.5 51,708.3
At 1 September 2020 51,183.9 517.0 5.1 1.0 0.4 51,7074
Settled - - - - - -
Granted - - 0.5 - 0.1 0.6
Cancelled - - - - - -
Exercised - - - - - -
At 31 August 2021 51,183.9 517.0 5.6 1.0 0.5 51,708.0

The Partnership Units and Sweet Equity have an expiry date equivalent to the estimated exit event date. No units expired
during the year.

In respect of the Partnership Units and Sweet Equity allocation, the total vesting charge for the year was $2.7 million (2021:
$8.3 million).

2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan

Under the 2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan, nen-qualified share aptions {“NSOs”} were granted to directors and selected
employees by Nord Anglia Education Inc, {the immediate parent of Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited).
Following modifications during 2018, NSOs were reclassified as cash-settled awards and the ultimate settlement obligation
for the awards was transferred to Nord Anglia Education Management Limited {common parent of Nord Anglia Education Inc.
and Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited). Because the ultimate settlement cbligation for the awards resides with
Nord Anglia Education Management Limited, and in the absence of any formal recharge arrangements, the awards are treated
as equity-settled from the perspective of Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited.

The assessed fair value at 31 August 2022 for a single NSO was $2.67 to $3.33 per option {(2021: $1.40 to $1.86). The Mante Carlo
method has been used to independently determine the grant date fair value of each NSO. The key assumptions utilised in
model are as follows:
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

9 Employee benefits {continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Class A share price

Volatility

Dividend yield

Rigk free rate!

Shares covered by a single NSO

Exercise price per NSO

Risk-adjusted discount rate for equity valuation?
Expected life to exercise

Early exercise provision?

Post-vesting withdrawal rate

Vesting conditions

2022

$1.00

45.0%

0.0%

3.5%

32.5Class Aand
preference shares
£18.0t0 $23.8
nja

0.0 years

See below
0.00%
Time-based

2021

$1.00

44.0%

0.0%

0.2%

32.5Class A and
preference shares
$18.0t0 $23.8
nfa

0.0 years

See below
0.00%
Time-based

! The risk-free rate is derived from the yield of zero-coupon US Government Bonds with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the

award.

“Itis assumed an NSO will be exercised immediately upon vesting.

*The equity valuation at 31 August is based on an enterprise value, after deducting net debt. The enterprise value in turn is based on the
application of a leng-term EBITDA multiple to the consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of Nord Anglia Education Management Limited.

The table below summarises the NSOs granted under the plan:

At beginning of the year

Settled
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised

At end of the year

Vested and exercisable at end of the year

Weighted-average
exercise price per

NSO

20.97

20.97

Weighted-average

NSOs  exercise price per
2022 NSO
{‘D00s) $
137.6 20,97
137.6 20.97
137.6 20.97

137.6

137.6

No NSOs expired during the period covered by the above tables. NSOs outstanding at the end of the year have the following

expiry date and exercise prices:

Grant date

30 May 2014

14 July 2014

9 January 2015

24 September 2015
30 October 2015
22 september 2016
7 October 2016

17 November 2016
21 November 2016
I January 2017

Expiry date

30 May 2024

30 May 2024

8 January 2025

24 September 2025
30 October 2025
22 September 2026
7 October 2026

17 November 2026
21 November 2026
1 January 2027

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options

outstanding at end of the year

Exercise price
per NSO
(s)

18.00
19.58
19.57
20.87
19.60
21.76
22.00
24,18
23.75
23.32

NSOs N5Os
2022 2021
{*000s) {'000s)
8.0 8.0
0.3 0.3
18.3 18.3
35.1 35,1
3.2 3.2
T2.7 72,7
137.6 137.6
3.3 years 4.3 years
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

10 Finance income and expenhse

Recognised in the Consalidated Income Statoment;

Bank interest
Related party loans
Defined benefit pension plan obligation

Total finance income

Total interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Term loans

Related party loans

Other interest charges

Defined benefit pension plan obligation
Deferred consideration

Contingent consideration

Lease liabilities

Total finance expense

Net finance expense

Note

29

29

1%a
24

Vs et

Doesle Lt E e

e Pheder 2 o
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2022 2021
Sm sm
2,9 1.5

15.6 101
0.1 -

18.6 11.6

34.9 34.0

33.5 311
0.2 1.7

- 0.1
0.4 0.3
0.3 0.4

80.8 76.2

150.1 143.8

131.5 132.2
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

11 Income tax expense

Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement:

TS I LN I N NI B PEY I R

S T i

2022 2021
$m sm
Current tax expense
UX current tax charge 9.5 7.1
Overseas current tax charge 29.2 27.5
Adjustment in relaticn to prior years 9.3 6.0
Current tax expense 48.0 40.6
Deferred tax credit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (8.2) 9.4)
Adjustment in relation to prior years 1.4 4.1}
Deferred tax credit (6.8) (13.5)
Total tax expense 41.2 271

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of Corporation tax in China of 25.0% (2021: 25.0%) per the

explanation below:

2022 2021 Restated *

$m $m
Loss before tax® {15.0) 3.6
Tax using a tax rate of 25.0% (2021: 25.0%) (3.9) 0.6
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions {7.5) 4.7
Non-deductible expenses 5.7 16.8
Withholding tax paid or payable on overseas dividends
and other income for which no relief is available 5.0 2.3
Losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 3.0 4.7
Recognition of temporary differences not recognised previously - (3.0)
impairment of receivables 27.5 116
Change in tax rates in foreign jurisdiction (1.2) (0.4)
Utilisation of losses brought forward not recognised 1.9 (2.7
Adjustment in relaticn to prior years 10.7 1.9
Total tax expense 41.2 27.1
Tax (charged)/credited to other comprehensive income ! 3.2 {(3.8)

included within *Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes’

‘ The prior year balances are restated after finatisation of the purchase price altocation of Colegio Peruana. Therefore, the restated 2021 batances do
not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 tor details.

B * The comparative information has been restated. Please see further information in note 1.
The Group has used the statutory tax rate for China, being 25.0%, rather than that for the United Kingdom, being 19.0%, as the
Group believes this provides a more meaningful comparison, and the majority of the Group’s taxable profits are earned in
China, and the majority of the Group's taxes are paid in China.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows {for the purposes of this disclosure note, assets and
liabilities have been shown as gross):

31 August 31 August
2022 2021
Sm Sm
Deferred tax assets
To be recovered after maore than 12 months 12.5 28.4
To be recovered within 12 months 2.5 3.1
15.0 315
Deferred tax liabilities
To be settled after more than 12 months {76.7) (88.4)
To be settled within 12 months {5.0) {2.8)
(81.7} (51.2)
Deferred tax liabilities (net} (66.7) (59.7)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets Liabilities
31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2022 2021 2022 20217
ém Sm Sm Sm
Property, plant and equipment 1.9 1.4 (25.3) {21.1)
Intangible assets - - (95.5) (91.2)
Employee benefits - pension 0.3 0.4 (0.7) (3.6}
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 14.3 18.5 - -
Provisfons and accruals 56.2 54.2 (21.8) (23.3)
Derivatives 3.9 5.0 - -
Tax assets / (liabilities) 76.6 79.5 (143.3) (139.2)
Offset of assets/liabilities {61.6) (48.0) 61.6 48.0
Net assets/{liabilities) 15.0 315 (81.7}) {91.2)
Net tax lizbilities - - (66.7) {59.7)

!The prior year balances are restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano. Therefore, the restated 2021
balances do not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Movement in deferred tax is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets
Employee benefits - pensicn

Tax value of {oss carry-forwards

Provisions and accruals
Derivatives

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets
Employee benefits - pension

Tax value of loss carry-forwards

Provisions and accruals
Derivatives

Recognised

Recognised in

in the the Consolidated

R R EINIE IR A PAYR

A T AN

1 September Consolidated Statement of Foreign  Acquiredin
2021 {as Income Comprehensive exchange business 31 August
restated} Statement Iincome movements combinations 2022
$m $m $m $m $m $m
(19.7) 2.1 - 0.7 (6.9) (23.8)
{91.2}) 3.9 - 3.9 {11.7) {95.1)
(3.2) 1.5 1.2 (0.1) - (0.6}
18.5 (4.2 - - - 14.3
30.9 4.6 2.0 {2.9) - 34.6
5.0 (1.1) - - - 3.9
{59.7} 6.8 3.2 1.6 {18.6) {66.7)
Recognised Recognised in
inthe the Consolidated
Censolidated Statement of Foreign Acquired in 31 August
1 September Income  Comprehensive exchange husiness 2021 {as
2020 Statement Income  movements combinations restated)*
$m sm sm $m $m Sm
(8.6} 0.1 - (0.3} (10.5) (19.7}
(83.9) 2.8 - (0.2) {9.9) (91.2)
1.1 0.7 (3.6) - - (3.2)
18.1 C.4 - - - 18.5
22.6 8.4 - (0.2) 0.1 309
2.5 2.5 - - - 5.0
(48.2) 13.5 (3.6) (0.7) (20.7) {59.7)

The prior year balances are restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano. Therefore, the restated 2021
balances do not correspand to the prior peried financial statements. Refer to note 19 for details.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued}

13 Property, plant and equipment

Cost
Balance at 1 September 2021

Acquisiticns through business combinations

Additions

Disposals and adjustments

Transfers

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Ralance at 31 August 2022

Balance at 1 September 2020

Acquisitions through business
combinations?

Additions

Disposals and adjustments

Transfers

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 September 2021
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals and adjustments

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2022

Balance at 1 September 2020
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals and adjustments

Effect of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2021

Net book value

At 31 August 2022

At 31 August 2021

Land and Fixtures Computer Motor Assets under
Buildings: and fittings equipment vehicles construction Total
tm $m Sm $m $m $m
420.9 115.7 80.8 10.4 9.3 637.1
60.7 0.4 - 0.2 - 61.3
10.4 6.9 13.0 0.3 22.4 53.0
(0.9) {5.1) {9.3) {0.9) {2.0) {18.2)
5.2 0.4 0.2 0.1 (5.5) 0.4
(28.1) {5.2) {2.2) {1.0) (3.3) {39.8)
468.2 113.1 82.5 9.1 209 693.8
355.1 109.0 74.0 10.7 8.3 561.1
46.8 1.9 0.2 0.1 - 49.0
10.8 5.0 5.9 0.1 9.1 30.9
(3.2) (1.6) (1.4} (0.5) (2.9) (9.6}
3.5 0.5 1.1 - {5.1) -
3.8 0.9 1.0 - {0.1) 5T
420.9 115.7 80.8 10.4 9.3 637.1
108.3 B85.6 66.1 8.7 - 268.7
25.1 10.8 B.8 0.8 1.0 46.5
{0.7) (7.5) (5.9) {0.7) {1.0) {15.8)
{15.1) (0.8 (1.3) (1.0} - {17.8)
117.6 B88.5 67.7 7.8 - 281.6
85.7 75.2 57.1 8.4 - 226.4
22.8 12.1 9.0 0.7 - 44.6
(2.3) (1.4) (0.9} (0.5) - {5.1)
2.1 (0.3) 0.9 0.1 - 2.8
108.3 B5.6 66.1 8.7 - 268.7
350.6 24.6 14.8 1.3 20.9 412.2
3126 30.1 14.7 1.7 9.3 368.4
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (conti

13 Property, plant and equipment {(continued)

i

nued)

Y,

YLand and buildings comprise freehold properties and leasehold improvements. At 31 August 2022 the cost and accumulated
depreciation associated with freehold properties amounted to $179.8 miilion (2021: $120.1 million} and $15.2 million (2021:
$59.2 million), respectively. The net book value of freehold properties at 31 August 2022 was $164.6 million {2021: $§110.%
million). Included within freehold properties is non-depreciable land amounting to $51.3 millien (2021: $25.7 million).
*The Land and buildings balance is restated after finalisation of the purchase price aliocation of Colegic Peruano. Therefore,
the restated 2021 balances do not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for detalls.

14 Right of use assets

Cost

Balance at 1 September 2021
Additions via business combinations
Additions

Adjustment from different treatment of extension and termination

options
Disposals
Effects of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2022

Balance at 1 September 2020
Additions via business combinations
Additions

Adjustment from different treatment of extension and termination

options
Effects of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2021
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 September 2021
Disposals

Depreciation charge in the year

Effects of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2022

Balance at 1 September 2020
Depreciation charge in the year
effects of movements in foreign exchange

Balance at 31 August 2021

Net book value

At 31 August 2022

At 31 August 2021

Land and Computer Motor
buildings  egquipment vehicles Total
$m $m $m $m
1,410.7 0.7 1.6  1,413.0
21.0 - - 21.0
8.3 - 0.7 9.0
53.9 - (0.1} 53.8
{10.0) - - (10.0}
{58.7) - - (58.7)
1,425.2 0.7 2.2 1,428.1
1,220.8 .3 0.9 1,222.0
82.5 - 82.5
56.0 0.4 0.7 57.1
43,9 - - 42.9
8.5 - - 8.5
1,410.7 0.7 1.6 1,413.0
201.3 0.3 G.5 202.1
(7.8) - - (7.8)
91.8 0.2 0.2 92.2
{8.3) - - {8.3}
277.0 0.5 0.7 278.2
109.3 0.1 0.3 109.7
91.7 0.2 0.2 92.1
0.3 - - 0.3
201.3 0.3 0.5 202.1
1,148.2 0.2 1.5 1,149.9
1,209.4 04 L1 12108
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

15 Commitments

All capital commitments, as per the following table, relate to ROU assets and property, plant and equipment.

2022 2021
Sm Sm
Contracted but not provided for 9.8 2.7

Included in the amounts above are property leases with a total undiscounted contractual value of $5.1 million (2021: 50.1
million). These leases have been tormerly executed but are not yet effective at 31 August 2022,
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

16 Intangible assets
Website &
Customer intellectual Computer
Goodwill Brand refationships property software Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost
Balance at L September 2021 1,248.5 306.6 147.8 16.5 27.3  1,746.7
Additions via business combinations 223.9 39.4 8.1 - - 271.4
Additions - - - 14.1 3.1 17.2
Adjustments - - - {6.6) 6.6 -
Disposals - - - - (0.6) {0.6)
Foreign exchange movement (72.7) (11.1) (6.4) {0.2) {0.5) {90.9)
Balance at 31 August 2022 1,399.7 334.9 149.5 23.8 35.9 1,943.8
Balance at 1 September 2020 1,085.8 279.0 130.9 10.6 18.7 1,525.0
Additions via business combinations -
restated® 145.1 27.0 16.4 - 0.3 188.8
Additions - - - 12.7 41 16.8
Adjustments - - - {4.1) 4.1 -
Disposals - - - (2.8) (0.3} (3.1)
Foreign exchange mavement 176 0.6 0.5 0.1 0.4 19.2
Balance at 31 August 2021 1,2485 306.6 147.8 16.5 27.3 1,746.7
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 September 2021 139.4 25.8 28.2 1.0 15.6 270.0
Amortisation for the year - 5.0 13 0.4 57 24.1
Impairment - - - - 23 2.3
Adjustments - - - - - -
Disposals - - - - - -
Foreign exchange movement (9.1) (0.6) {3.5) (0.1) (0.4} {13.7)
Balance at 31 August 2022 130.3 30.2 97.7 1.3 23.2 282.7
Balance at 1 September 2020 138.0 21.2 75.7 3.8 12.0 250.7
Amortisation for the year - 4.2 12.4 0.5 3.6 20.7
Adjustments - - - (0.6) - (0.6)
Disposals - - - (2.8} - (2.8}
Foreign exchange movement 1.4 0.4 6.1 0.1 - 2.0
Balance at 31 August 2021 139.4 25.8 88.2 1.0 15.6 270.0
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 1,269.4 304.7 51.8 22.5 12.7 1,661.1
At 31 August 2021 1,101 780.8 59.6 155 11.7 1,476.7

! The Goodwill and Brand balances are restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano.
Therefore, the restated 2021 batances do not correspand to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (conti

16 Intangible assets {continued)

2022 impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets

A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets, Goodwill is allocated to groups of CGUs at a regional level. Refer to the Business
combinations and goodwill accounting policy for further information.

The recoverable amount of a CGU Group is determined as the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell. Value-in-
use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period discounted using pre-tax discount rates. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the education industry in
which the CGU operates.

Fair value less costs to sell is determined based o an EBITDA multiples valuation by applying a multiple, based on the market
expectation of multiples applied in the education industry, to the actual EBITDA for the year. The valuation is considered to
be level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to use of the EBITDA multiple, which is an unobservable input, in the valuation.

Alfocation of goodwill to CGU Groups

The goodwill balances atlocated to CGU Groups are as follows:

As at 31 August 2022 Net carrying value
of goodwill

Sm

China International 248.7
Europe 435.4
South East Asia and Middle East 94.3
India 95.8
Americas 390.4
Learning Services 4.8
1,269.4

As at 31 August 2021 Net carrying value
of goodwill

Sm

China International 265.7
Europe 409.3
South East Asia and Middle East 57.7
India 104.3
Americas 266.4
Learning Services 5.7
1,109.11

*The Goodwill balance was restated in 2022 after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano. Therefore,
the restated 2021 balances do net correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.

Upon management’s annual impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets in 2022, no impairment was identified
{2021: nil).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

16 intangible assets (continued}

2022 impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets

Key assumptions used in impairment assessment

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

Pupil growth (Year Discount rate Long-term growth

2022
1to 5) rate {Average)
China internaticnal 19.2% 11.6% 1.5%
Europe 10.6% 12.7% 2.4%
South East Asia and Middle East 15.8% 14,0% 2.9%
India 17.6% 26.4% 4.0%
Americas 15.5% 13.2% 2.5%
Learning Services nja 21.7% 2.2%
Pupil growth (Year Discount rate Long-term growth

2021
1to 5} rate (Average)
China international 18.3% 12.4% 2.3%
Europe 8.3% 10.4% 1.8%
South East Asia and Middle East 19.8% 16.9% 3.5%
india 16.1% 15.0% 4.8%
Americas 21.0% 11.7% 2.3%
Learning Services n/a 10.4% 2.0%

The key assumptions used for the fair value less costs to sell calculation is actual EBITDA for 2022 (2021: actual EBITDA for
2021) and an EBITDA multiple of 12 times (2021: 12 times). These assumptions are applied across all CGU Groups.

Specific assumptions used and sensitivity to the changes in assurmptions

The Group performed sensitivity analysis on all CGU Groups by flexing the assumptions used in the determination of the
recoverable amount. For all CGU Groups, except China International, the recoverable amount is based on the fair value less
costs to sell as it is higher than the corresponding value-in-use.

Under the sensitivity analysis, the revised recoverable amount is compared with the post-tax carrying value of the CGU Group
to compute the headroom. For recoverable amounts based on value-in-use, the Group considers pupil growth, discount rate
and long-term growth rate to be key assumptions, For recoverable amounts based on fair value less costs to sell, the group
considers the EBITDA and EBITDA multiple to be key assumptions.

The Group considered possible changes in these key assumptions. A decrease in the EBITDA multiple in India to below 7.34
times would result in a negative headroom.

For all other CGUs there is no reasanable change that could occur to the key assumptions that would cause the recoverable
amount to be below the carrying amount of the CGUs causing a negative headroom.

Individually material intangible assets
Individual intangible assets other than goodwill that are considered to be material to the Group are as fellows:

Brand Names

2022 2021 Estimated useful life
cGu im sm
Collége du téman, SARL Europe 59.4 63.3 Indefinite
Hamelin 2, S.L Europe 38.9 - Indefinite
Collége Alpin Beau-Soleil SA Europe 12.5 131 fndefinite

The Group has Brand Names cansidered to have indefinite useful economic life with a carrying amount of $116.6 mitlion
{2021: $82.6 million),
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

17 Investments

Investments in entities within the wider Group that are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are as follows:

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

$m Sm

Capital contributions 3.0 __ 3.0

Capital contributions represent cash injections into entities in the wider Group which they recognised within equity. The
contributions do not afford any control or other rights over the entity.

Subsidiaries

Refer to the appendix for a full listing of the Group's subsidiaries.

Non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interest for the year is $(1.6) million {2021: $(1.4} million}. The directors have assessed that the non-
controlling interests of Camplife, Ltd (up until November 2020*} and The King’s School, Manila Inc. are immaterial to the
Group’s financial position and financial performance for separate disclosure of the underlying business financial performance,
financial position and cash flow in accordance with IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of interests in other entities’.

“During the year the Group acquired the non-controlling interests of Camptife, Ltd, detailed in note 18 Business Combinations.

Subsidiaries exempt from the requirements of the Act relating to the audit of individual accounts

The consolidated financial statements include the results of all subsidiaries as listed below. Certain subsidiaries have taken
the exemption for the year ended 31 Aupgust 2022 by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006. in order to allow these
subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited has provided a guarantee to these
subsidiaries, in accordance with s479C. This guarantees that Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited will support
these subsidiaries in full going forward, will not recall any loans and will provide financial suppertif it should be required. The
subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 August 2022 by virtue of s479A Companies
Act 2006 are noted in the table below.

Company number Company number
Nord Anglia Vocational Education and

y . 03739390 WCL Services Limited 03543074
Training Services Ltd

WCL School Management Services

Nord International Schools Limited 05017740 o 07244130
Limited
Ssﬁ;r;gd:?n?i:catlon Development 05603122 British Schools International Limited 09674167
Nord Anglia Education Limited 02116088 Global British Schools Limited 09674285
WCL HoldCo Limited 08500277 Ez:i:dnglia Education Administration 11569513
WCL Group Limited 06547748 NA Educational Services Limited 03603850
WCL Intermediate Holdings Limited 06547222 NA Schools Limited (3604036
Bucksmore Education Limited 02830204 LPS (Oxford) Limited 05445545
Oxford Summer Academy Limited 11938324 Oxford Science Studies Limited 11938332
Oxford International Education 1 Limited 08871389 Oxford International Education 2 Limited 08871991
Oxford International Education 3 Limited (887199] Fieldwork Education Limited 03299897
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

17 Investments (continued)

Structured entities

Myanmar

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in schools in Myanmar, the Group has entered into certain contractual
arrangements with the school and their respective equity holders, including but not limited to the nominee shareholder
service agreements, exclusive operation and management agreement and / ordeed of trust, with the Group being the ultimate
beneficiary. These contractual arrangements enable the Group to:

- exercise effective financial and operational control over the activities that most significantly affect the economic
performance of the school;

- exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the scheol; and

- receive substantiaily all of the economic interest returns generated by the school in consideration for the exclusive
services, and / or all the dividends and distributions from the school.

The school or equity holders do not have the right to unilaterally early terminate any of the agreements without the consent
of the Group.

The Group has control over this school as it holds rights that gives it the power to direct the activities of the school that most
significantly impact the school’s economic performance, has rights to variable returns from its invoivement with the school
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the school.

As aresult of these contractual arrangements, the school in Myanmar has been consolidated within the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

India

As per local legislation, the five schools in India are legally owned via non-profit educational societies which hold the licenses
for the schools. Due to restrictions in foreign enterprises owning 'for profit’ schocls, the schools and societies have been
acquired under an arrangement that establishes ‘controi’ from an accounting perspective, but without having direct legal
ownership. The structure operates such that there are service agreements in place between the schools and the societies that
own the schools, and entities which are directly owned by the Group. Through a mixture of these service agreements and the
mechanisms in which members can be appointed and removed from the societies, the Group has sufficient exposure to the
vartiable returns of the school operations, and also has power to affect the amount of the returns.

Additionally, membership agreements have been established to govern the appointment of society members, who are
charged with the primary responsibility of managing the day-to-day activities of the societies. Such arrangements allow the
Group to unilateraily appoint and remove these members. Members under these agreements aiso have service engagements
with the Group that require the members to operate the societies in line with the Group’s instructions.

As aresult of both the Group’s shareholding and these contractual arrangements, the schoolsin India have been consolidated
within the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

18 Business combinations

Acquisitions in 2022

The Group made the following acquisitions during 2022 to expand its international network of premium schools. Ail the
transactions have been accounted for by the acquisition method of accounting.

On 21 June 2022, the Group acquired a 100.0% interest in Greengates School, $.C. and Britscul, S.A., which operates the
Greengates school which is located in Mexico City, Mexico. The school enrols more than 1,000 students from kindergarten to
grade 12. Greengates offers the International Early Years Curriculum, the international Primary Curriculum, international
General Certificate of Secondary Education and the International Baccalaureate Diploma.

On21 July 2022, the Group acquired a 100.0% interest in Hamelin 2, 5.L. Hamelin 2, S.L operates the Hamelin-Laie International
School which is located Barcelona, Spain. The Hamelin-1 aie school enrols over 1,300 stedents from nursery to grade 12, taught
in English, Spanish and Catalan. It offers a Spanish national curriculum and for the final 2 years, the International
Baccalaureate Diploma and National Bachillerato (the Spanish national curriculumj.

On 31 August 2022, the Group acquired a 100.0% interest in Al Fahoum & Partners Educational Co. LLC, which operates the
Amman Academy in Amman, Jordan. The school enrols over 1,200 students from pre-K to grade 12, taught in English and
Arabic. The school offers a International Baccalaureate Diploma Programme.

Purchase consideration and fair value of net assets acquired

The provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired and the consideration for the acquisitions in the year were as
follows:

Note Greengates Hamelin Amman Total
School School
$m Sm $m Sm

Non-current assets
Brand 16 - 33%.4 - 39.4
Customer relationships 16 - 8.1 - 8.1
Property, plant and equipment 13 7.1 50.1 4.1 61.3
Right of use assets 4 1.4 4.1 15.5 21.0
Other non-current assets 2.8 - - 2.8
Current assets
Inventories - - 0.3 0.3
Trade and other receivables 0.1 0.1 4.4 4.6
Cash and cash equivalents 7 5.5 4.9 13.1
Current tax assets 0.9 - - 0.9
Other current assets - - 14.7 14.7
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings - - (14.0) (14.0)
Lease liabilities (1.4) (4.1) (15.5) (21.0)
Defarred tax liabilities iz - (18.6) - (18.6)
Cther non-current payables (4.1) - - {4.1)
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (10.5) {1.9) {13.9) {26.3)
Current tax liabilities (0.2 - - (0.2)
Other payables - - {1.8) (1.8)
Net identifiable assets acquired (1.2} 82.7 (1.3} 80.2
Goodwill arising 16 126.2 59.1 38.6 223.9
Total consideration 125.0 141.8 37.3 304.1
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)
18 Business combinations {continued)
Acqguisitions in 2022 {continued)

The consideration for the acquisitions was as follows:

Greengates Hamelin Amman Total
School School
$m $m $m $m

Consideration
Cash consideration 125.0 122.4 27.4 274.8
Deterred consideration - 10.3 - 10.3
Contingent consideration - 5.1 5.9 19.0
Total consideration 125.0 141.8 37.3 304.1
Net outflow of cash
Cash consideration to acquire equity 125.0 122.4 27.4 274.8
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 2.7} (5.5} (4.9) {13.1)
Net outflow of cash in respect of the purchase 122.3 116.9 22.5 261.7

of businesses

The portion of the gross contractual amount for trade and other receivables which is expected to be uncollectable is not
material.

The goodwill recognised on these acquisitions primarily reflects the ability of the schools ta enrot new students and generate
additionat income.

The acquisitions contributed revenue of Snil and loss befare tax of $2.5 million to the Group from the date of acquisition to 31
August 2022, The Snil revenue is attributable to the school years of both Greengates and Hamelin 2, S.L ending in June 2022.

if the acquisitions had occurred on 1 September 2021, the Group’s continuing revenue would have been $47.0 million and
continuing profit before tax would have been $21.6 million.

Acquisitions in 2021

The Group made the following acquisitions during 2021 to expand its international network of premium schoots. All the
transactions have been accounted for by the acquisition method of accounting,

On 28 February, 2021, the Group acquired 100.0% of the share capital of Eton 5.C which operates the Eton Schoo in Mexico
City. Eton 5.C s a leading bilingual school with over 1,500 students from pre-school to grade 12 taught in English and Spanish
and offers the American curriculum and International Baccalaureate diploma.

On 31 March 2021, the Group acquired 100.0% of the equity and outstanding loan notes of Oxford International Education 1
Limited which operates three schools in Oxford, UK: d’Overbroecks, Oxford International College and Oxford Sixth Form
College (“the Oxford Schools™). The schaols teach the English National Curriculum and A (evels.

On 26 August 2021, the Group acquired 100.0% of the equity of Cultural Educacional Windsor del Perd S.A.C. which operates

Colegio Peruanoe Britanice in Lima, Peru (“Colegio Peruano”}. The schoolhas over 1,000 students from pre-school to grade 12
and teaches Peru’s national curriculum and the International Baccalaureate programme.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

18 Business combinations {continued)
Acquisitions in 2021 {continued)
Purchase consideration and falr value of net assets acquired

The final fair values of the assets and fabilities acquired and the consideration for the acquisitions in 2021 were as follows:

Note Eton The Oxford Colegio Total
School Schools Peruano
$m im $m $m

Non-current assets
Brand 16 6.1 16.5 4.4 27.0
Customer relationships 16 4.7 1.7 - 16.4
Computer software 16 - 0.3 - 0.3
Property, plant and equipment 13 3.5 7.3 382 49.0
Right of use assets 14 7.1 75.4 - 82.5
Other non-current assets 5.5 - - 5.5
Current assets
Inventories - - 0.1 0.1
Trade and other receivables 0.6 11.3 0.9 12.8
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 113 0.3 11.7
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables (6.1) (32.9} {4.1) (43.1)
Current tax liabilities (0.2 - - {0.2)
Non-current liabilities
Debt - (111.4} - (111.4)
Lease liabilities (7.1) (75.4) - (82.5)
Deferred tax liabilities 12 (2.9) (7.1) (10.7) (20.7)
Other payables (1.2) - - (1.2}
Net identifiable assets acquired 10.1 (93.0) 29.1 {53.8)
Goodwill arising 16 16.2 128.9 - 145.1
Gain on bargain purchase - - (2.3)" (2.3)
Total consideration 6.3 35.9 26.8 85.0

!The gain on bargain purchase relating to Colegio Peruano is recorded in Other gains/{losses) in the Consolidated Income
Statement

Colegio Peruano

The net assets recognised in the financial statements as at 31 August 2021 were included at their provisional fair values, The
purchase price allocation for Colegio Peruano was finalised in June 2022. The outcome of this exercise was recognising Brands
at$4.3m {see note 16), fair value adjustments to Property, Plant and Equipment of $23.5m (see note 13}, additicnal inventories
of $0.1m, additional trade and other payables of $3.0m, and an increase in deferred tax liabilities of $8.2m. The total impact
on Net assets acquired is $16.7m, which resulted in a total gain on bargain purchase of $2.3m, as opposed to Geodwill of
$14.4m which was recognised as part of the provisional accounting (see note 16}. This is as a result of a higher valuation of the
assets acquired.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

18 Business combinations (continued)
Acquisitions in 2021 (continued)

The consideration for the acquisitions was as follows:

Note

Consideration

Cash consideration
Deferred consideration
Contingent consideration

Total consideration

Net outflow of cash

Cash consideration to acquire equity
Cash consideration to acquire loan notes 23
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net cutflow of cash in respect of the purchase
of businesses

Eton

School

$m

26.3

The Oxford
Schools
$m

359

{11.3)

136.0

Colegio Total
Peruano

$m $m

21.6 83.8

2.7 2.7

2.5 2.5

26.8 89.0

216 83.8

- 111.4

(0.3) (11.7)

21.3 183.5

The portion of the gross contractual amount for trade and other receivables which is expected to be uncollectable is not

material.

The goodwill recognised on these acquisitions primarily reflects the ability of the schools to enrol new students and generate

additional income.

The acquisitions contributed revenue of $23.8 million and loss before tax of $2.0 million to the Group from the date of

acquisition to 31 August 2021,

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 September 2020, the Group’s revenue would have been $1,106.3 million and profit before

tax wouid have been $59.2 million.

On 19 November 2020 the Group acquired the remaining 49.5% of Camptife, Ltd in Florida, United States of America for $8.8
million payable over 19 years. The acquisition gives the Group 100.0% ownership of Camplife,Ltd which provides summer

camps each year,
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments
19a Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables, is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the effective

rate of interest at the reporting date if the effect is material.

Trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other payables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the effective
rate of interest at the reporting date if the effect is material.

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand. Where
it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the
effective rate of interest at the reporting date.

interest-bearing borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the effective rate
ofinterest at the reporting date. For leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.
Derivative financial instruments

The valuation for the embedded derivatives included within the Chicage and Houston operating leases with CPI multiplier
using quoted market prices, however the liquidity of this market is reduced in the medium to leng term and therefore the
valuation is considered to have level 3 characteristics.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued

19 Financial instruments (continued)
19a Fair values of financial instruments {continued)
Fair vailues

The fair values of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet are as follows:

Restated™ Restated™
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
2022 2022 2021 2021
Sm sm $m sm
Amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 308.3 308.3 456.0 456.0
Trade and other receivables 705.1 705.1 649.7 649.7
Total financial assets 1,013.4 1,013.4 1,305.7 1,105.7
Amortised cost
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (434.9) (434.9) (407.2) (407.2)
Trade and other payables (1042.9) {1042.9) (897.2) (897.2)
Lease liabilities! {1,232.6) {1,232.6) {1,272.8) {1,272.8)
Fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial tiabilities {15.6) {15.6} (19.3) {19.3)
Contingent consideration (25.3) {25.3) {6.1) (6.1)
Total financial liabilities (2,751.3) (2,751.3} (2,602.6) (2,602.6)
Net financial instruments (1,737.9} (1,737.9) {1,496.9) (1,496.5)

! Derivative financial liabilities includes $15.6 million {(2021: $19.3m) relating to embedded derivatives for the Chicage and
Houston leases, The balance of these embedded derivatives has been reclassified to the lease liability in the current year as it

forms part of the overall lease hybrid contract and is considered a mare appropriate presentation on a go forward basis,

* The comparative information has been restated. Please sce further information in note 1.

The fair value of the derivative financial liabilities is summarised as below.

31 August 31 August
2022 2021
‘m Sm

Derivative financial liabilities
Embedded derivatives ! {15.6) (19.3)
Total {15.6) (19.3)

'Embedded derivatives relates to the Chicago and Houstan leases which are disclosed within lease liabilities in the State
of Financial Position.

Fair value hierarchy

ment

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value, into a fair vaiue hierarchy based con the valuation

technigue used to determine fair value.
e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

*  Level2:inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either di
{i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).

*  Level 3:inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

rectly
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments {continued)
1%a Fair values of financial instruments {continued)
Fair value hierarchy

31 August 2022

Derivative financial liabilities *

Contingent Consideration

The level 3 hierarchy consists of embedded derivatives.

31 August 2021

Derivative financial liabilities !
Contingent Consideration

L' The level 3 hierarchy consists of embedded derivatives.

Recanciliation of fair value measurement using significant unobservabie inputs flevel 3/

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the years ended 31 August:

As at 1 September 2021
Arising on acquisition
Additions

Fair value adjustment
Discount Unwind
Settied

As at 31 August 2022

As at 1 September 2020
Arising on acquisition
Fair value adjustment
Discount Unwind
Settled

As at 31 August 2021
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Level 3 Total
$m Sm
{15.6) (15.6)
{25.3) {25.3)
{40.9) (40.9)
Level 3 Total
Sm Sm
(19.3) (18.3}
{6.1) (6.1)
(25.4) {25.4)
Contingent Embedded
Consideration derivatives Total
$m $m Sm
(6.1) {19.3) {25.4)
(19.0) - {19.0)
(0.2) - {0.2)

- 3.7 3.7
(25.3) {15.6) {40.9)
{12.0) (21.6) {33.6)

{2.5) - (2.5)
- 2.3 23
0.4 - 0.4
8.0 - 8.0
{6.1) {19.3) (25.4)

All gains and losses are unvealised and recognised within Other Gains and Losses within the Income Statement.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments (continued)
19a Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation

The valuation of the embedded derivatives is based on the fair value of rent payable pursuant to the terms and conditions set
forth in the lease agreement when compared with rent under normal commercial terms. A year-on-year inflation swap and
option valuation model which takes into account the leverage, cap and floor characteristics and the market rate has been
applied to perform the valuation.

The valuation of contingent consideration is based an the likelihood of relevant future performance targets being achieved.
For contingent consideration, the assumption of whether or not revenue performance targets will be met within a
performance period is considered to be an unobservable input, however, is assumed to be 100% based on performance to
date. There are no other assumptions which are considered tc have a material impact. To this end a probability is assigned to
a set of future pay-out scenarios, from which a probability weighted average pay-out is calculated and then discounted based
on market participant assumptions.

19b Credit risk

Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and bank balances. This credit risk
is minimised by a policy under which the Group only enters into such contracts with companies, governments, banks and
financial institutions with strong credit ratings within limits set for each organisation. In respect of derivatives, dealing activity
is closely controlled and counterparty positions are monitored regularly. No credit limits were exceeded during the year and
the Group does not anticipate that any losses will arise from non-performance by these counterparties.

Expostire to credit risk

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in accerdance
with the Group's policy. Investments of surplus funds are made onfy with approved counterparties and within credit limits
assigned to each counterparty. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was $1,013.4 million (2021: $1,105.7
million) being the total of the carrying amount of the Group's trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments {continued)
19b Credit risk {continued)
Financial assets

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group’s trade and other receivabtes at the reporting date by currency was:

Restated”

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

$m Sm

Sterling 11.2 12.9
US dollar and Us dollar peg currencies 554.0 3745
Chinese renminbi 50.0 166.8
European currencies (excluding Sterling & Swiss franc) 14.5 11.5
Malaysian ringgit 2.6 3.5
Swiss franc 48.1 50.4
Thai baht - 0.1
Mexican pesc 1.0 75
Russian ruble 1.1 1.4
Brazilian real 0.3 (0.2}
Philippines peso 0.9 0.8
Uzbekistani som 1.7 1.0
Indian rupee 18.9 18.7
Peruvian Sol 0.8 0.8
705.1 649.7

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group’s trade and other receivables at the reporting date by type of counterparty
was:

Restated™

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

Sm Sm

School fees 141.3 147.7
Amounts receivable through other contracts 0.5 0.3
Rental deposits 2.1 2.4
Others! 561.2 499.3
705.1 649.7

! Included within others are amounts owing to reiated parties for $532.0 million (2021: $522.3 million). See Note 20 Trade
and other receivables and Note 29 Related party transactions.

* The comparative information has been restated. Please see further information in note 1.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments {continued)

19b Credit risk {continued)

The Group has primarily two types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
s Trade receivables from the provision of curriculum, extra-curricular, enrclment and ancillary services; and
s Otherreceivables.

while cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

{i} Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets, To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 August 2022 and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within these periods. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified that the GDP and the unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells its goods and services are
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical (oss rates based on expected changes in these factors,

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 August was determined as follows for trade receivables:

31 August 2022
Days overdue
Current 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 91+ days Total
$m $m $m Sm 5m $m
Trade receivables (gross) 117.2 25.1 7.5 7.9 14.7 172.4
Expected default rate 1.6% 4.4% 4.0% 5.1% 63.3%
Expected credit loss 1.9 1.1 0.3 0.4 9.3 13.0
31 August 2021
Days overdue
Current 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 91+ days Total
sm Sm $m Sm Sm Sm
Trade receivables (gross) 92.2 28.5 7.2 13.1 23.9 164.9
Expected default rate 1.7% 4.2% 8.3% 6.9% 53.1%
Expected credit loss 1.6 1.2 0.6 0.9 127 17.0

(ii) Other receivables

Other receivables primarily consist of shert and long-term rental deposits for school property, amounts held in Escrow and
term deposits. All of the Group’s other receivables are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised
during the period was therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses. Other Receivables are considered to be low credit risk

as they have a low risk of default and the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

No impairment loss is recognised on other receivables at 31 August 2022 and no write-offs of balances occurred during the
year (2021: nil).
(i) Related party receivables

Related party receivables primarily comprise intercompany loans and trading balances with entities in the wider Group.
Related party balances are reviewed for recoverability and impaired by calculating the expected credit loss.

An impairment tass of $109.1m {2021: $46.5m} was recognised on related party receivables at 31 August 2622 and no write-
offs of balances occurred during the year (2021: Snil).

82



REETTNE AT SNOTEVR VINIIN SPRTINN " VIR A TR T YR AR RRT A
[N ST T A TN I T T

TR TT N

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

18 Financial instruments {continued)

19b Creditrisk (continued)

Receivablesthat are deemed uncollectible are classified as bad debt. Accaunts will be written off to bad debts for the following
reasons:

e  Theinvoice is more than 180 days overdue
¢ The customeris inselvent/bankrupt;
e Thestudent has left the school, and has not entered into any formal repayment plans; or

s Any other reason which would cast significant doubt on the customer’s ability to repay outstanding balances.

19¢ Liguidily risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the
effect of netting agreements:

31 August 2022

Undiscounted
contractual 1 year 1lto 2to S5yearsand
cash flows or less < 2 years < 5 years Over
$m $m $m S$m $m
Borrowings! 524.4 36.1 36.2 452.1 -
Lease liabilities 2,264.6 140.8 133.1 362.2 1,628.5
Trade and other payables 1,266.2 431.6 11.4 814.6 8.6
Derivative financial liabilities 20.6 0.2 0.5 2.7 17.2
4,075.7 608.7 181.2 1,631.6 1,654.3
31 August 2021

Undiscounted
cantractual 1year lto 2to  Syearsand
cash flows or less <2 years <5years Over
sm Sm Sm sm Sm
Borrowings* 560.6 36.2 36.1 488.3 -
Lease liabilities 2,351.8 140.0 133.5 359.1 1,719.2
Trade and other payables 909.2 346.7 542.8 9.3 10.4
Derivative financial fiabilities 220 0.2 0.5 2.6 18.7
3,843.6 523.1 712.9 859.3 1,748.3

1 Includes a bank overdraft facility of $nil (2021: $nit}. There were no undrawn borrowings at 31 August 2022 (2021: $nil).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

15 Financial instruments (continued)

19¢c Liquidity risk (continued)

Asthe Group conducts its operations both within the United States and outside of it (for example, 43 of the Group’s 53 Premium
Schools are in non-United States jurisdictions), the Group’s Premium Schools hold significant non-US dollar cash balances in
overseas operations which arise from fee income and represent a combination of werking capital and trading profits. As the
cash and cash equivalents held by non-United States subsidiaries are used generally to fund the Group’s non-United States
cperations, the Group believes that the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by non-United States subsidiaries is not
significant to an understanding of the Group's liquidity. These monies are held in operations in countries which include those
where exchange control restrictions may prevent full repatriation of funds to the UK parent undertaking. The Group utilises
these funds through a combination of reinvestment in the expansion or improvement of overseas operations, or by
repatriation to the UK through management contracts, including royalty agreements, management charges and dividends.
Through these means the directors believe that satisfactory distribution of these funds can be achieved.

As at 31 August 2022, the Group held $176.4 million {2021: $139.8 million) of cash and cash equivalents in jurisdictions where
foreign exchange and other regulatory controls may limit the distribution of cash to subsidiaries in jurisdictions without
foreign exchange and other regulatory controls. For information about undistributed earnings management caonsiders
permanently reinvested in jurisdictions with foreign exchange and other regulatory controls, see Note 11 Income tax expense.

19d Market risk

Financial risk management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect
the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has significant and expanding international operations trading in non-US dollar currencies. Movements in global
exchange rates can cause currency exposures to the Group’s consolidated US dollar financial resuits. Where stable currencies
exist, trade is conducted in local currencies and where appropriate, borrowings are matched in that currency to mitigate the
risk of exposure to the Group’s assets and liabilities from exchange rate movements, In countries of operation where currency
trading zones are considered to be weaker, some transactions are conducted in US dollar and Euro to try to minimise exchange
fluctuation risks.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continhed)

19 Financial instruments (continued)

15d Market risk {continued)
Foreign currency risk {continued)

The following table sets out the Cash and cash equivalents balance based on currency.

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

$m $m

US dollar and US dollar-pegged currencies 84.8 176.5
Steriing 4.0 16.3
European currencies (excluding Sterling & Swiss franc) 36.0 30.7
Chinese renminbi 87.1 60.2
Swiss franc 6.6 92.2
Singaporean dollar 0.5 0.2
Malaysian ringgit 0.5 1.2
Mexican peso 15.5 13.9
Russian ruble 48.0 49.6
Brazilian real L7 1.8
Philippines peso 0.5 1.1
Uzbekistani som 4,2 3.0
Indian rupee 18.5 9.0
Peruvian Sol 0.4 0.3
308.3 456.0

The table below shows converted into US dollar, the aggregate menetary assets and liabilities that are in a different currency
from the various functional currencies of the entities in the Group.

European US dollar and

31 August 2022 Sterling currencies USdollar peg Total
Sm $m im Sm

Cash and cash equivalents 7.4 15.3 9.4 321
Trade and other receivables - - 0.8 0.8
Trade and other payables (7.9) (0.4) (0.7) (9.0}
Lease liabilities (2.4) (28.3) {26.7) (57.4)
(2.9) {13.4) (17.2) (33.5)

The Group is also exposed to foreign exchange risk on intercompany transactions. Refer to Note 19.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

19 Financial instruments (continued)

15d Market risk {continued}
Fareign currency risk fcontinted)

European  USdollar and

31 August 2021 Sterling currencies  US dollar peg Total
Sm sm $m $m
Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 16 0.7 2.6
Trade and other receivables - 0.1 - 0.1
Trade and other payables (0.8) (0.1) - 0.9)
Finance lease liabilities - (0.6) {0.5) (1.1)
{0.5) 1.0 0.2 0.7

Sensitivity analysis

Currency risks arise from primary and derivative monetary financial instruments issued in a currency other than the functional
currency of the Company. Exchange rate-related differences from the translation of financial statements into the Group’s
presentation currency are not considered. Taking account of the different functional currencies within the Group, the
following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the below currencies, with all other variables
held constant. A 4% strengthening (2021: 4% strengthening) of the following currencies against the US dollar at 31 August
would have decreased profit or loss by the amounts shown below:

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

$m Sm

Sterling currencies 0.1 -
European currencies 0.5 1.6
USD currencies 0.7 -
1.3 1.6

Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$m sm
Variable rate instruments
Financial liabilitics 434.9 407.2

The Group does not apply hedge accounting for any of its derivative financial instruments. As such the Group recognises
changes in fair value in respect of any of its derivative financial instruments immediately in its Consolidated income
Statement,

The Group's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issucd at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate profile
of the Group’s debt is predominately variable.

The impact of a 1% increase in the 3 month USD LIBOR rate of 3.25% as at 31 August 2022 (2021: 3 month USD LIBOR of
0.12%) on the Group's US dollar 2 lien variable interest rate debt which is subject to 2 1.00% USD LIBOR floor (2021: 1.00%
USD LIBOR floor) would be an increase in the Group’s interest charge by approximately $4.1 million {(2021: $4.1 million).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

19 Financial instruments {continued)

19¢ Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares or sell fixed assets to
reduce debt.

The Group continues to assess its capital structure and funding requirements, including considering interest rate benchmarks
inthe assessment.

The Group monitors capital at the Nord Anglia Education Management Limited (“NAEML”) level on the basis of the following
leverage ratio:
1stlien Net debt divided by Consolidated EBITDA {as defined under the terms of the NAEML Group’s 1st tien Credit Agreement).

During 2022, the Group's strategy, which remains unchanged from 2018, was to maintain a leverage ratio under 7.0x as set out

inthe 1st lien Credit Agreement and to monitor the leverage position on a regular basis. The Consolidated 1st lien Net Leverage
ratios at 31 August 2022 and 31 August 2021 were 3.3x and 4.6x respectively.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (contini.le )

20 Trade and other receivables
31 August 31 August
Note 2022 2021
Sm Sm
Current
Trade receivables 172.4 164.9
Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables 196 {13.0} (17.0)
Net trade receivables 195h 159.4 147.9
Prepayments’ 28.5 21.0
Accrued income 1.8 0.6
Amounts owed by related parties 28 463.6 392.6
Other receivables 2.5 9.6
655.8 571.7
! Prepayments relate mainly to travel, insurance and teaching materials prepayments.
Restated*
31 August 31 August
Note 2022 021
$m S$m
Non-current
Prepayments® 2.0 2.4
Amounts owed by refated parties® 29 68.4 83.2
Other receivables 10.1 16.4
80.5 102.0

! Prepayments mainly relate to rental for Premium School sites, which are not recoverable for at least 12 months from this
date and are for leases which have yet to commence at 31 August 2022.

*Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of those loan
arrangements disclosed in Note 29 Related party transactions. An impairment loss allowance of $109.1m was recognised on

amounts owed by related partiesin 2022 {2021: $46.5m).

*The comparative information has been restated. Please see further infermation in note 1.

21 Cash and cash equivalents
31 August 31 August
2021 2021
$m sm
Cash and cash equivalents 308.3 456.0

Refer to Note 19b Credit risk and 19¢ Liguidity risk for the detailed analysis of cash and cash equivalents in relation to credit
risk and liquidity risk, respectively.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

22 Assets held for sale
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
sSm Sm
Land and buildings - 53

The assets held for sale related to an ancillary building known as Coral Springs in North Broward Preparatory Schogl, LLC {the
Americas). The building had been marketed for sale as three separate plots. The sale of plots 2 and 3 took place in December
2020 for a total price of $2.8m, incurring costs to sell of $0.1m. Plot 1 was sold for $5.1m in June 2022 resulting in a loss on
disposal of $0.2m. There are no assets held for sale as at 31 August 2022,

Land and buildings classified as held for sale during the year were measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value
less cosls Lu self, resulting in the recognition of write dewn of nil (2021: reversal of write down cf $0.4 million) as impairment
inthe Consolidated Income Statement. The fair values of each plot have been determined based on signed LOI’s received from
third parties, less any actual and estimated directly attributable selling costs.

23 Interest-bearing leans, borrowings and overdrafts

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group and Company’s interest-bearing loans and
borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency risk, see Note 19 Financial instruments. For information on the Group’s intercompany loans with related
parties, see Note 25 Related party transactions.

31 August 31 August
2022 2021
Sm Sm
Current liabilities

Bank overdraft - -
Other loans 25.4 0.1
Current portion of term loan 0.1 B
25.5 0.1

Non-current liabilities
Term loan 409.4 407.1

All borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges over all the current and future assets of certain Group entities. The
Group subsidiaries which are party to this arrangement are detailed in the appendix, along with details of certain Group
entities whose share capital has also been pledged as part of the security arrangement, including the assignment of certain
insurances.

Term and debt repayment schedule

Carrying Carrying

Face value amount Facevalue amount

Nominal  Yearof 2022 2022 2021 2021

Currency interestrate  maturity Sm $m Sm Sm

Bank overdraft uss - - - -
Other loans uss 25.4 25.4 0.1 0.1
Term foan uss 8.25% 2025 416.0 409.5 416.0 407.1
441.4 434.9 416.1 407.2

Face value is the nominal amount of debt at issuance whereas the carrying value is the nominal value less unamortised costs.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

23 Interest-bearing loans, borrowings and overdrafts (continued)

Term loan

The term loan is a floating rate loan. Changes in interest rates have minimal impact on fair value since loans re-price to the
market frequently and on that basis, fair value is assumed to equal carrying value. The interest rate is based on USD LIBOR
{subject to a 1.00% interest rate floor) plus a margin of 7.25%. The loan is due for full repayment in August 2025,

Maturity of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$m sm
Less than ane year 25.5 0.1
Between two and five years 409.4 407.1
More than five years - .
434.9 407.2
Debt reconciliation for cash flow information
Note External loans &
borrowings
{excluding bank
overdrafts}
$m
As at 1 September 2021 407.2
Loan notes acquired via business cormbinations 18 14.0
Cash flows 12.3
Foreign exchange adjustments {1.6)
Other changes! 2.4
As at 31 August 2022 434.9
As at 1 September 2020 417.0
Loan notes acquired via business combinations 18 111.4
Cash flows (123.6)
Foreigh exchange adjustments 0.4
Other changes? 2.0
As at 31 August 2021 407.2

! Other changes include non-cash mevements which are presented as operating cash flows in the staternent of cash flows,
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (conti

24 Lease liabilities

The Group’s feases primarily comprise of property leases, specifically in relation to school campuses and staff
accommodation. Leases are also held in respect of IT equipment and motor vehicles, Extension and termination options are
included in a number of property leases across the Group to facilitate operational flexibility, particularly with staff
accommodation leases, which are often on a roliing basis. In these instances, judgement is used to determine the lease term;
further detail of which is set out in note 1.

Movement in lease liabilities

2022 2021
Sm Sm
As at 1 September 1,272.8 1,144.9
New leases 9.2 57.0
New leases via business acquisitions 21.0 825
Reclassification of embedded derivatives? 15.6 -
Disposals {2.9) -
Interest charge in the year 80.8 76.2
Payment of lease liabilities (146.0) (138.0)
Adjustment from different treatment of extension and termination options 53.1 42.9
Effects of mevement in foreign exchange (55.4) 7.3
As at 31 August 1,248.2 1,272.8
Ageing of lease liabilities
Current tease liabilities 128.9 140.0
Non-current lease liabilities 1,119.3 1,132.8
As at 31 August 1,248.2 1,272.8

!This relates to embedded derivatives for the Chicago and Houston leases, which has been reclassified from derivative financial liabilities to
non-current lease liabilities in 2022,

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had $5.1 mitlion (2021: $0.2 million) of leases which had been committed to, but which had
not yet started. Such leases are notincluded in the Group's lease liabilities as at 31 August 2022,

Total cash outflows in relation to leases in year ended 31 August 2022 are $152.2 million (2021: $142.1 million). This relates to
payments of $65.2 million (2021: $61.8 million) on lease principal, $80.8 million {2021: §76.2 million) on lease interest, $1.2m
{2021: $nil) on variable lease payments and $5.0 million {2021: $4.1 million} relating to short-term leases and low value asset
leases.

Lease payments that are variable and not included within the lease liabilities as at 31 August, i.e. they are not linked to an
index, are linked to non-market performance measures such as the number of FTEs or revenue.

The Group’s accounting policy for leases is set out in Note 1. Details of income statement charges and income for leases not
included in lease liabilities (included in administrative expenses) are set out in Note 4. The right-of-use asset categories on
which depreciation is incurred are presented in Note 14. Interest expense incurred on lease liabilities is presented in Note 10.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

25 Trade and other payables
31 August 31 August
Note 2022 2021
$m $m

Current

Trade payables owed to third parties? 44.8 358
Other taxes and social security 11.9 10.3
Amounts owed to related parties 29 215.6 1462
Deferred consideration? 3.6 23
Other payables owed to third parties? 82.2 75.0
Contingent consideration? 3.7 3.6
Accrued expenses 89.9 89.9
451.7 363.1

I Deferred consideration consists of $0.4 million (2021: $0.4 million} in refation to the Metropolitan School of Panama, S.A. acquired in the
year ended 31 August 2017, $0.5 millien (2021: $0.5 million) in relation to Camplife Ltd., $2.7 million (2021: $1.4 million) in relation to
Cultural Educacional Windsor del Per( S.A.C, acquired in the year ended 31 August 2021.

2Diher payables relate to student deposits repayable on demand.

*Contingent consideration consists of $3.7 mittion (2021: $3.6 million, non-current] in relation to the Prague British School acquired in the
year ended 31 August 2017 (see Note 18 Business combinations}).

*Trade payables owed to third parties balance is restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano, Therefore,
the restated 2021 balances do not correspond to the prior period financial statements, Refer to note 18 for details.

31 August 31 August

2022 2021
$m Sm

Non-current
Accrued expenses 2.2 1.0
Amounts owed to related parties 29 581.2 536.8
Beferred consideration! 14,1 5.3
Contingent consideration® 21,5 25
Other payables owed to third parties®* 12.4 8.9
631.4 557.5

Non-current accrued expenses relate principally to rental accruals on school sites, not payable for at {east 12 months from this date.

* Befarred consideration consists of $3.8 million {2021: $ril) in relation to the acquisition of Camplife Ltd. and $nil {2021: $1.3 million)
relating to Cultural Educacional Windsor del Perd $.A.C acquired in the year ended 31 August 2021 and $10.3m {2021: $nil} in relation to
Hamelin 2, S.1. (see nhote 18).

20ther payables relate to student deposits repayable on demand.
* Contingent censideration consists of $2.5 miltion {2021: $2.5 million}, which relates to Cultural Educacional Windsor del Perd S.A.C,
acquired in the year ended 31 August 2021, $3,1 miilion {2021 $nil) in relation to Hamelin 2, S, {see note 18) and $9.9 million (2021: $nil)

in relation to Amman Academy {see note 18).

*Other payahles awed to third parties is restated after finalisation of the purchase price allocation of Colegio Peruano. Therefore, the
restated 2021 balances do not correspond to the prior period financial statements. Refer to note 18 for details.

) s

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of those loan
arrangements disclosed in Note 29 Related party transactions. Included within amounts owed to related parties are C5X listed

{oan notes, where details are disclosed in Note 8 Creditors within the Company financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 {continued)

26 Provisions for other liabilities and charges
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
Sm Sm
Balance at 1 September (7.2) (5.7
Provisions made during the year (4.5) (5.0)
Provisions through business acquisitions (1.4) -
Provisions used during the year 0.5 34
Provisions reversed during the year - 0.1
Balance at 31 August (12.6) {7.2)
Current (0.2) {(0.2)
Non-current (12.4) (7.0)
(12.8) {7.2)

From time to time, the Group is party to litigations in various jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The recognition of
provisions is determined in accordance with the accounting pelicies set out in Note 1.

The balance at 31 August 2022 mainly relates to restoration cost clauses included in some of our campus leases. These costs
are not expected to be incurred in the near-term as we do not intend to exit any of our current lease agreements in the
foreseeable future.

27 Contingencies

The Group has provided the following bank guarantees:

To SCTAI Anglo Iskola KFT for €0.7 million or $0.7 million (2021: €0.7 million or $0.8 million) in respect of a 3C-year lease of
school premises in Budapest, and the guarantee expires on 15 March 2023.

To Abu Dhabi Education Council for AED 0.1 million or $0.0 million {2021: AED 0.1 million or $0.0 million) which is open ended.

To Dubailslamic Bank for AED 12 million or $3.3 million {2021: AED 12.0 million or $3.3 million) in respect of a 13-year lease for
school premises in Dubai, and the guarantee expires on 15 September 2024,

To Méstska ¢ast Praha 12 for €ZK 3.1 million or $¢.1 million (2021: CZK 3.0 million or $0.1 million) in respect of a 36-year lease
for schoal premises in Prague, and the guarantee expires on 15 May 2024.

To Bikak Kosarlabda Korlatolt Felelossegu Tarsasag for €0.2 million or $0.2 million (2021: €0.2 million or $6.2 million) in respect
of a 29-year lease of Sports Facility in Budapest, and the guarantee expires on 15 March 2023.

To Leosolis SA for CHF 2.8 million or $3.1 million {2021: CHF 2.8 million or $3 million} in respect of a 32-year lease of school
premises in Switzerland, and the guarantee is open ended.

To China Construction Bank Corporation for CNY 130.0 million relating to a guarantee of a lean. CNY 50.0 million of the
guarantee expires on 29 December 2025 and CNY 80.0 million expires on 15 December 2026,

To Bank of East Asia (China) Co., Ltd. for CNY 45.0 million relating to credit amounts due. The guarantee expires on 8 December
2023,

To Bank of East Asia (China) Co., Ltd. for CNY 5.0 million relating to credit amounts due. The guarantee expires on 8 December
2026.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

27 Contingencies (continued)
Contingencies related to legisiative changes:

The Group is subject to tax regulations across multiple territories. The Group menitors proposed legislative changes to tax
regulations ia relevant territories but does nat recognise the tax impact of proposed changes until they are legally effective,

and an obligation exists.

28 Capital and reserves

Share capital

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid

Ordinary shares of $1 each
Deferred shares of $0.19 each

Number

515,902,579
1

515,902,580

31 August 31 August
2022 2021

$m Number sm

515.9 515,902,579 515.%

- 1 -

515.9 515,902,580 515.9

The holders of Ordinary shares are entitied to full rights in respect of voting, dividends and distributions. The holder of the
Deferred share has no voting or dividend rights and any capital distributions are limited to the nominal value of the Deferred

share.

Share capital movement

Balance at 1 September 2021
Shares issued

Balance at 31 August 2022
Balance at 1 September 2020

Shares issued

Balance at 31 August 2021

Currency translation reserve

Number Par Premium Total

Sm Sm $m

515,902,580 515.9 - 515.9
515,902,580 515.9 - 515.9
515,902,580 515.9 - 515.9

515,902,580 515.9 - 515.9

The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising since 1 September 2009, the transition
date to IFRS, from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations, which are prepared in the functional

currencies of the foreign eperations.

Other reserves

This reserve is used to record the differences which arise as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests that do not

resultin a change of control.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

28 Related party transactions

Controlling entitics

The Company is controlled by the following entities:
Name

Nord Anglia Education, Inc.
Baring Private Equity Asia GP VI Limited*

Relationship

Immediate parent entity

Ultimate parent and controlling entity

Covg g il

Place of incorporation
Cayman Islands
Cayman Islands

*Baring Private Equity Asia GP VI Limited, through its subsidiaries, exert control over the Company through voting rights.

Transactions with related parties

During the year the Group and Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with related parties.
Transactions entered inte, and trading balances outstanding at 31 August, are as follows:

Transactions

Revenue from management fees with other group entities
Purchases from other group entities

Management fees charged by controlling parties

Interest receivable on other balances with other group entities
Interest receivable on loans with other group entities

Interest payable on loans with immediate parent entity
Interest payable on loans with other group entities
Impairment losses on loans with other group entities*

Rental charges payable to a member of key management personnel and

companies controlled by key management personnel

Balances outstanding
related parties

sm
Controlling parties (current) 22.6
Immediate parent entity {current) 175.5
Immediate parent entity {non-current) -
Other group entities {current) 265.5
Other group entities {non-current)” 67.9
Key management personnel 0.5

31 August 2022

Amounts owed by Amounts owed to

related parties
Sm

2.7

109.1

574.5

103.8

6.7

2022

46.6
0.6
7.5
1.5

14.1

30.3
3.2

109.1

15.1

Amounts owed by
related parties
Sm

14.1

‘The comparative information has been restated. Please see further information in note 1.

Restated”
2021
Sm

35.6
0.6
7.5
0.5
3.6

30.7
0.4

46.5

15.8

31 August 2021
Amounts owed to
related parties
Sm

2.7

62.5

536.6

Included within Amounts owed by related parties (refer to Note 20) is an amount of $0.5 million {2021: $0.4 miltion] in respect
of rental deposits owed by the key member of management. These rental deposits are not due within the next 12 months and

are therefore classified as non-current (2021: non-current).

Remuneration of senior management is disclosed in Note 8 Key management personnel.

Two of the Group’s key management personnel hold an investment in certain controlling entities. Neither of the two key
management personnel received any interest or dividend during the year in connection with their respective investments.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

29 Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with related parties (continued)

During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Swiss schools continue to rent premises from a key member of management and
companies which are controlled by the key member of management.

Future aggregate undiscounted minimum lease payments to the key member of management as well as companies controlied
by the key member of management are as follows:

Total payable Duewithinl Due withinlto Due after more

year 5 years than 5 years

$m $m sm $m

31 August 2022 242.6 14.9 58.6 169.1
31 August 2021 260.6 15.2 58.5 186.9

There is a rental guarantee made to a company controlled by key management personnel for CHF1.2 million in respect of a
16-year [ease (2021: 16-year} of school premises in Switzerland. The annual payment under this lease is CHF 3.1 million (2021:
CHF 3.1 million} and the guarantee expires on 31 August 2036 (2021: 31 August 2036). See note 27 for details regarding a
guarantee to Leosolis SA regarding a school premises.

In addition, companies owned by the key management personnel were also paid reimbursement costs of $0.4million (2021
$0.5 million).

Related party loans

Included within trade and other receivables {refer to Note 20) and trade and other payables (refer to Note 25) are amounts
owed by/to related parties, which are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of the following
loans:

Loans received from the immediate parent 2022 2021
Sm Sm
Balance 1 September 669.1 598.0
Loans advanced 8.4 40.4
Loans Repaid {29.0)
Interest charged 30.3 30.7
Interest paid (0.5} -
Balance at 31 August 678.3 669.1

The loan from the immediate parent comprises CSX loan note instruments of $574.5 million (2021: 536.6 million}, which bear
arate of 5.20% plus USD LIBOR. Loan in the prior year of $29.0 million was repaid during the current year (2021: $29.0 million},
which bore a rate of 1.75% plus USD LIBOR. An amount of $8.36 million was advanced during the current year(2021: nil}. The
undrawn amount as at 31 August 2022 on the CSX loan note was $375.5 million (2021: $363.4 million). The C5X notes have a

maturity date of 31 August 2025,

Loans received from other group entities 2022 2021

sm sm
Balance 1 September 28.9 6.0
Loans advanced 26.3 29.2
Loan repayments made (17.4) (6.5)
Interest charged 0.7 0.4
Foreign exchange {0.6) {0.2)
Balance at 31 August 37.9 28.9

Loans fram ather group entities are represented by principal amounts of $nil {2621: $nil}, which bears no interest and is due
on 31 August 2024; an amount of $6.5 million {2021: $3.2 million}, which bears interest at 3.00% and is due on 31 August 2024;
and an amount of $29.7 miilion (2021: $25.5million), which bears interest at 2.3%.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022 (continued)

29 Relaled party transactions {continued)

Related party loans (continued)

Loans issued to other group entities 2022 2021
$m sm
Balance at 1 September 192.3 172.2
Loans advanced 9.0 109.7
Loan repayments received (33.9) (94.2)
Interest charged 6.9 9.6
Intercst received - {5.0}
Balance at 31 August 174.3 192.3

Loans made to other group entities are represented by principal amounts of $58.9 million {2021: $83.9 million), which bears
interest at approximately 4.60% (2021: approximately 5.20%); $2.7 million {2021: $2.7million}, which does not bear interest;
$41.0 million (2021: $41millicn), which bears interest at approximately 4.08% (2021: 4.12%j); and $51.3 million (2021: §51.3
million), which bears interest at approximately 5.08% (2021: approximately 5.12%).

30 Events after the balance sheet date

On 31 March 2023 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Saint George Educational Complex, S.A. for a total
undiscounted consideration of $18.5m. Acquisition costs of $1.0m was incurred to date as exceptional costs and recognised
within the income statement,

As at the date of signing these accounts, the preliminary fair values of assets and liabilities acquired in the March transactions
had not yet been quantified.

31 Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

Nord Anglia Education Management Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman islands, is the parent undertaking of the
largest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements at 31 August 2022. Copies of these consolidated
financial statements are not publicly available. The consolidated financial statements of Nord Anglia Education Lendon
Holdings Limited represent the smallest group of undertakings for which consolidated financial statements are prepared.

The ultimate controlling party is Baring Private Equity Asia GP Vi Limited.
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 August

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one vear
Debtors: amounts failing due within one year

Cash and cash equivalents

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than ene year

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Profit and loss account

Total shareholders’ funds

Sk ekl arion

Note

11
1z

anued Fotdine | nnesd
Coteanildid o bl St

[ IR I Y

31 August
2021
5000

1,257,145

145,000
364,595
74,861

584,456

(225,197)

359,259

1,616,404

(585,285)

1,031,119

515,903
515,216

1,031,119

The profit and loss account includes a net loss after tax for the year of $19,052,000 {2021: $21,071,000). As permitted by section
408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the Company has not been separately presented in these

financial statements.

These financial statements set out on pages 98 to 107 were appraved by the Board of directors on 16 May 2023 and were signed

an its hehatf by:

s

/

AVan ’!lilsteren
Director

Company number: 06590752

The notes on pages 100 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 August 2022

Share Profitand Total Equity

Note capital loss account

5000 $000 5000
Balance as at 1 September 2020 515,903 536,287 1,052,190
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year - {21,071) (21,071}
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (21,071) (21,071)
Balance at 31 August 2021 515,903 515,216 1,031,119
Balance at 1 September 2021 515,903 515,216 1,031,119
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year - (19,052) (19,052)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - {19,052) (19,052}
Balance at 31 August 2022 515,903 496,164 1,012,067

The notes on pages 100 to 107 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Company financial statements

i General information

Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited is a financing and holding company. The Company is a private company
limited by shares and is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address of its registered office is 4th Floor,
Nova South 160 Victoria Street, Westminster, London, United Kingdom, SW1E SLB.

2 Basis of preparation

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its Group. The
financial statements have been prepared on agoing concern basis, under historical cost as modified by revaluation of financial
assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss {as applicable} and in accordance Financial Reporting
Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ and the Companies Act 2006.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company's accounting policies (see note 3).

In preparing these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS
101:
e therequirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;
+  therequirements of paragraphs 1-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;
e therequirementin paragraph 28 of 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ to present comparative information
in respect of:
o paragraph 7%{a){iv) of IAS 1;
o paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
o paragraph 118{e) of |AS 38 Intangible Assets;
* the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134-136 of IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements;
s therequirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
s therequirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;
and
« therequirementsin 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into between two
or mare members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by
such a member.

This information is included in the consolidated financial statements.

a. Goingconcern

The Company is an intermediate holding company within the wider NAE Group. The Company has received confirmation from
Nord Anglia Fducation Management Limited of its intention to provide sufficient support to enable the Company to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due for a pericd of at least 12 months from the date ofapproval of these financial statements.

Having made enquiries, the directors have reasonable expectations that the Company and the NAE Group are well placed to
manage its business risks and continue its operations for the foreseeable future and for at least 15 months from the date of
the approval of the financial statements. Accordingly, the directors have not identified any material uncertainties to the
Company's or the NAE Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the financial statements. For more information see the Strategic Report on page 4.

3 Accounting policies

The accounting policies of the Company have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all years presented in
these financial statements. In most cases the accounting policies for the Company are fully aligned with the equivalent
accounting policies for the Group as stated in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies that
are specific to the Company are set cut below.

a. Valuation of investments

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment. Investments are tested for impairment
annually by comparing the value of the investments to the net assets of the subsidiary that the investmentis held in. If these
ret assets are not sufficient then a comparison to the forecast discounted future cash fiows of the entity is performed to
assess whether this is sufficient to support the level of the asset. In cases where the fuli amount of the asset is not supported
by this farecasted amount then a provision is recorded for the value of the asset that is not supportable. See note 5.
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Notes to the Company financial statements {continued)
3 Accounting pelicies {continued)

b. Intercompany receivables

Intercompany receivables are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition these assets are measured at
amortised cost less any provision for impairment losses. In order to calculate impairment losses, the Company first determines
the 12 month expected credit loss, with the lifetime expected credit loss being recognised in the event of a significant increase
in default risk. If external ar internal rating information is available, the expected credit loss is determined on the basis of this
data. If no rating information is available, the Company determines default ratios on the basis of historical default rates, taking
into account forward-leoking information on economic developments. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the
level of expected credit losses are reviewed periodically to determine if there is a significant increase in default risk.

€. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The Company considers that there are no relevant standards or relevant interpretations mandatery for the current accounting
period that have not been applied.

Future standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective or early adepted, are:

»  (lassification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1; effective 1 January 2023;

*  Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use - Amendments to IAS 16; effective 1 January 2022;

+  Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS 3; effective 1 January 2022;

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract ~ Amendments to IAS 37; effective 1 January 2022,

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020; effective 1 January 2022,

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to I1AS 8; effective 1 January 2023;

Disclosure of material accounting policies ~ Amendments to 1AS 1; effective January 2623; and

e Deferred tax related to assets and liabilitics arising from a single transaction - Amendments to IAS12; effective 1
January 2023.

¢ IFRS 17 Insurance Contacts; effective 1 January 2023

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not effective for 31 August 2022 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Company. None of these are expected to have a material impact on the
Company in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

d. Judgments in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The directors consider that there are the following significant judgments or key sources of estimation uncertainty in the
preparation of these financial statements.

Key judgments

Deferred taxation

Calculations are made to determine the amount of tax provisions to be recognised. Significant management estimates is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax asset that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits. See note 9.

4 Employees

The average monthly number of employees related to the directors and during the year was 4 {2021 4), Employee costs for
the year was $nil {2021 $nil).

5 Investments
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$000 5000
Cost and net book value
At 1 September and 31 August 1,257,145 1,257,145

All investments relate to either companies operating schools or educational services companies, or related holding
companies.
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Notes to the Company financial statements {continued)

5 Investments {continued}

Investments represent 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Nord Anglia Education Limited, a company incorporated
in the United Kingdom. The principal activity of this subsidiary is that of a helding company.

No impairment charges were required to be made to the carrying value of the Company's investments as the directors believe
that the carrying value of the investments is supported by the recoverable amount ef underlying assets/future cash flows.

Subsidiaries

Refer to the appendix for a full listing of the Company’s subsidiaries.

6 Debtors
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$000 5000
Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts owed by related parties* 459,840 364,574
Other debtors 42 21
499,882 364,595

Amounis falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by related parties” 209,274 145,000
209,274 145,000

31 August 2022

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of the following
joans with:

- NAE Hong Kong Limited of $2,375,000 where interest is chargea at a rate of approximately 5.25%; and

- NAE Hong Kong Holdings Limited of $58,928,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.60%; and

- Nord Anglia Education Limited of $145,000,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.16%; and

- International College Spain SA of 50,000,000 EUR or $50,000,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.69%

31 August 2021

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of the following
loans with:

- NAE Hong Kong Limited of $2,325,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 5.06%: and

- NAE Hong Kong Holdings Limited of $83,886,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 5.20%; and

- Nord Anglia Education Limited of $145,000,000 where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.12%

“Related parties represent balances held with the Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited Group and also the wider
NAE Group. See note 14 for more details.

7 Cash and cash equivalents
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$000 $o00
Cash at bank and in hand 50,153 74,861

102



Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

g Creditors
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$000 5000
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade and other creditors 7,500 -
Accruals and deferred income 152 361
Amounts owed to related parties* 272,300 224,836
279,952 225,197

Amounts falling due after more than one year
CSX listed loan notes! 574,528 536,612
Amounts owed to related parties* 149,907 48,673
724,435 585,285

IThe CSX loan note instruments between Nord Anglia Education, inc and Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited bear
a rate of 5.20% plus USD LIBOR. Undrawn amount as at 31 August 2022 was U$$375,500,00C (2021: US$363,388,000). The CSX
Notes have a maturity date of 31 August 2025,

31 August 2022

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand, with the exception of the following
loans with:

- The British School of Kuala Lumpur Sdn. Bhd. for $12,213,000, where interest was charged at a rate of 3.00% and expires
on 31 May 2024,

- Regent Pattaya Campus Management Co., Ltd. for $6,479,000, where interest is charged at a rate of 3.00% and expires on
31 August 2024.

- Nord Anglia Education Limited for $9,850,000, where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.28% and expires on
30 November 2024,
- Nord Anglia Education Limited for 78,500,000 CHF or $80,928,000, where interest is charged at a rate of approximately
0.80% and expires on 25 February 2027.

- Dover Court International School (Pte) Ltd for 41,560,000 SGD or $29,686,000, where interest is charged at a rate of
approximately 2.30% and expires on 29 October 2022,
- College Alpin Beau-Saleil SA for 39,050,000 CHF or $40,258,000, where interest is charged at a rate of 0.80% and expires on
25 February 2025,

31 August 2021

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable aon demand, with the exception of the following
loans with:

- The British School of Kuala Lumpur Sdn. Bhd. for $6,459,000, where interest was charged at a rate of 3.00% and expires on
31 May 2022,

- Regent Pattaya Campus Management Co., Ltd. for §$3,176,000, where interest is charged at a rate of 3.00% and expires on
31 August 2024,

- Nord Anglia Education Limited for $20,309,000, where interest is charged at a rate of approximately 4.12% and expires on
30 November 2024,

-Dover Court International School (Pte) Ltd for 33,880,000 SGD or $25,188,000, where interest is charged at a rate of 2.16%
and expires on 29 October 2022.

*Related parties represent balances held with the Nord Anglia Education London Holdings Limited Group and also the wider
NAE Group. See note 14 for more details.

9 Deferred taxation

As at 31 August 2022, the Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset of $45,197,000 (2021: $50,826,000} in relation to
losses where it is uncertain that future profits will be available against which the losses could be utilised.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

10 Financial instruments
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
$000 $000
Assets measured at amortised cost

Cash at bank and in hand 50,153 74,861
Amounts owed from related parties 709,115 509,574
- 759,268 584,435

Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade creditors 7,500 -
CSX listed loan notes 574,528 536,612
Amounts owed to related parties 422,206 273,509
1,004,234 810,121

Valuation technigques

The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments within FRS 101 Section 11 paragraph
27 which are accounted for at fair value using valuaticn techniques.

—  Level 1: Guoted Prices {unadjusted) based on independent third party valuations in active markets for identical assets or
liatilities.

- Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly
or indirectly.

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments

The financial risks faced by the Company include price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, fareign currency risk and interest rate
risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Details regarding the exposure to these risks, the
objectives, policies and processes for managing these risks and the methods used te measure these risks are discussed in the
Strategic Report on page 4.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is the carrying amount recorded on the balance sheet.

No collateral or other credit enhancements are held as at 31 August 2022 (20621: none).

No credit derivatives or similar investments are held which mitigate the maximum exposure to credit risk (2021: none).

The financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired relate to amounts owed by related parties which are considered to
be fully recoverable based on the results and cash flows of the Nord Anglia Education Group.

No amounts are past due or impaired as at 31 August 2022 (2021: none}.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

10 Financial instruments (continued)

Maturity of financial liabilities

The CSX Notes have a maturity date of 31 August 2025.

Uy et b |

The undiscounted contractual cash flows relating to the Company's financial liabilities are as follows:

P oo Do i loein e v e

Ik ol B

Within 1 Between Between Between Between More

year 1and 2 2and3 3and4 4and5 than5

years years years years years

31 August 2022 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Trade creditars 7,500 - - - -

CSX loan notes - - 772,087 - - -

Amounts owed to 272,300 - 71,713 - 83,792 -
related parties

279,800 - 843,818 - 83,792 -

Within 1 Between Between Between Between More

year land 2 2and3 3and4 4and5 than 5

years years years years years

31 August 2021 $000 $000 $000 5000 $000 $000

Trade creditors - - - - - -

CSX loan notes 30,264 30,264 30,264 566,875 - -

Amounts owed to 224,836 25,188 23,486 - - -
related parties

255,100 55,452 53,750 566,875 -

The tables above analyse financial liabilities into maturity groupings based on the period from the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity datc. As the amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, they differ from the carrying
values and fair values. Contractual undiscounted future cash outflows for financial liabilities in totat amount to $1,207,410,000
(2021: $931,177,000). The contractual undiscounted future cash flows reported in the tables above in respect of amounts owed
to related parties reflect anticipated repayment dates.

Interest rate risk

The €C5X Loan Notes have an interest rate of 5.20% + USD LIBOR, and the directors have therefore carried out a sensitivity
analysis showing the effect of a change to the interest rate of the loan notes. If the 3 month USD LIBOR increases by 1.00%,
additional interest per year would be $5,366,000 (2021: $5,366,000).

105



T N TN IECTEN SPU T PR T TRV 8 ST RPN TN |

ST P I TN SRR Y IR SUTE

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

10 Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

There is no material foreign exchange exposure as the financial assets and liabilities are materially denominated in the
Company’s functional currency of USD.

Price risk

As set out the Strategic Report on page 4, the Company itself does not have material exposure to price risk.

Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a geing concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakehelders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘amounts due within one year' and 'amounts due after more than one
year’ as shown on the balance sheet) less cash at bank and in hand. Total capital is calculated as 'equity’ as shown in the
balance sheet plus net debt.

During 2022, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from 2021, was to maintain the gearing ratio. The gearing ratios at
31 August 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

31 August 31 August

2022 2021

$000 $000

Total interest-bearing borrowings * 724,435 585,285

Less: cash at bank and in hand 50,153 74,861

Net interest-bearing debt 774,588 660,146

Total equity 1,012,067 1,031,119
Total capital 1,786,655 1,691,265

Gearing 0.43:1 0.39:1

* Consisting of bank overdraft, CSX Loan Notes and amounts owed te related parties (due after more than one year).
There are no externatly imposed capital requirements at 31 August 2022 {2021: none).

There are no changes to the Company’s objectives, policies, processes for managing capital, or what the Company manages
as capital, from the prior year.

The holders of Ordinary shares are entitled to full rights in respect of voting, dividends and distributions. The hotder of the

Deferred share has no voting or dividend rights and any capital distributions are limited to the nominal value of the Deferred
share.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

11 Called up share capital
31 August
2022
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid $000
515,902,579 (2021: 515,902,579 Ordinary share of $1.00 ecach 515,903

1(2021: 1) Deferred share of $0.19 -

During the year no shares were issued (2021: 248,361,018).

12 Reserves

Profit and loss account

The profit and loss account represents the accumulated profits, losses and distributions of the Company.

13 Information included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 August
2021
$000

515,903

Some of the information included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements is directly relevant to the financial

staterments of the Company. Please refer to the following:

Note 4 - Expenses and auditors’ remuneration

Note 8 - Key management personnel

Note 17 - Investments

Note 30 - Events after the balance sheet date

Note 31 - Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

14 Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under 1AS24 of disclosing related party transactions with wholly-cwned

subsidiaries of the NAELHL Group. Other related party transactions with the wider NAE Group were as follows:

2022

$000
Interest receivable from related parties 11,385
Interest payable to related parties 33,440
Amounts owed from related parties (current) 241,752
Amounts owed to related parties (current) 187,687
Amounts owed from related pairties {non-current} -
Amaounts owed to related parties (non-current) 581,006

2021
$000

6,822
30,705

209,990
143,811

564,976

The directors of the Company are remunerated by other companies within the Nord Anglia Education Group. The directors do
rot consider that any of their remuneration relates to this Company as the level of their qualifying services provided to this

Company is inconsequential in both 2022 and 2021.
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